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RECONSTRUCTION: JULY 2004 TO JULY 2009
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The Report of the Iraq Inquiry

Introduction

1. Section 10 addresses the UK contribution to humanitarian assistance and
reconstruction in Iraq between 2003 and 2009:

® Section 10.1 covers the period between March 2003 and the end of the
Occupation of Irag in June 2004.

® Section 10.2 continues the story from July 2004 to July 2009.
2. Sections 10.1 and 10.2 consider:

® humanitarian assistance;

* the development and implementation of UK reconstruction policy, strategy
and plans;

* the UK’s engagement with the US on reconstruction, including with the US-led
Office of Reconstruction and Humanitarian Assistance (ORHA) and the Coalition
Provisional Authority (CPA); and

* the UK’s engagement with successive Iragi governments on reconstruction.
3. Section 10.3 addresses five issues in more detail:

®* UK policy on Iraqg’s oil and oil revenues;

* the Government’s support for UK business in securing reconstruction contracts;

® debt relief;

® asylum; and

* reform of the Government’s approach to post-conflict reconstruction and
stabilisation.

4. Those issues are addressed separately from the main reconstruction narrative, in
order to provide a clearer account of the development of the UK’s engagement.

5. This Section does not consider:

® planning and preparing to provide humanitarian assistance and reconstruction,
which is addressed in Sections 6.4 and 6.5;

* the financial and human resources available for post-conflict reconstruction,
addressed in Sections 13 and 15 respectively;

* de-Ba’athification and Security Sector Reform (SSR), addressed in Sections 11
and 12 respectively; and

* wider UK policy towards Iraq in the post-conflict period, addressed in Section 9.
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The transition from Occupation to an Iraqi Government

6. On 28 June 2004, the Coalition Provisional Authority (CPA) formally handed over to
a sovereign Iragi Government. In the 11 months that followed, the governance of Iraq
was the responsibility of the Interim Iraqi Government (11G), headed by Prime Minister
Ayad Allawi.

7. The security situation in Iraq remained difficult.

8. The core UK Ministerial team was unchanged: Mr Brown remained Chancellor
of the Exchequer, Mr Straw Foreign Secretary, Mr Hoon Defence Secretary, and
Mr Benn International Development Secretary.

9. Mr Straw continued to chair the Ad Hoc Ministerial Group on Iraq Rehabilitation
(AHMGIR), which met seven times between July 2004 and February 2005, after which
its business was taken up by the Ad Hoc Ministerial Group on Iraq (AHMGI).

10. Mr David Richmond, the Prime Minister’s Special Representative on Iraq, and
Ambassador Paul Bremer, the CPA Administrator, left Iraq shortly after the handover
ceremony:.’

11. Ambassador John Negroponte, the new US Ambassador to Iraq, presented his
diplomatic credentials to the IIG on 29 June.?

12. Hard Lessons described how, shortly after arriving in Baghdad and driven by
his concern about worsening security, Ambassador Negroponte put the US$18.4bn
Iraq Relief and Reconstruction Fund (IRRF2) on hold and initiated a “thorough
re-examination” of US priorities.

13. Ambassador Negroponte concluded that implementing economic development
programmes would be fruitless while security remained a serious problem. Three
reallocations of IRRF2 funds took place in September 2004, December 2004 and
March 2005. Those reallocations provided additional funds for security, the political
process and “project sustainment” at the expense of infrastructure projects. The water
and sanitation sector lost nearly half its funding, and the electricity sector almost a
quarter of its funding.

14. Mr Edward Chaplin arrived in Baghdad on 5 July to take up post as the first British
Ambassador to Iraq since 1990.

" Annotated Agenda, 1 July 2004, Ad Hoc Group on Iraq Rehabilitation meeting.
2 Bowen SW Jr. Hard Lessons: The Iraq Reconstruction Experience. U.S. Government Printing
Office, 2009.
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15. Ms Lindy Cameron, Deputy Head of DFID Baghdad from January to November
2004 (and subsequently Head of DFID Baghdad), described the transition:

“...it's hard to describe how strange the CPA was. So in a sense this period in
June/July 2004 when we were transitioning from the CPA to ... an Iragi Government
that was then sovereign, was a real transition because it is difficult to imagine how
strange it was to be in a building of thousands and thousands of foreign officials
effectively running a country, and then a very rapid transition from that to an Iraqi
Government which had some of the structures it needed, but then didn’t have some
of the others.”?

Efforts to accelerate the pace of reconstruction

16. On 1 July, at his request, the Permanent Joint Headquarters (PJHQ) provided
General Sir Michael Walker, Chief of the Defence Staff (CDS), with advice on
post-transition plans for infrastructure reconstruction.*

17. PJHQ advised that:

®* The US Project and Contracting Office (PCO) would be the largest source of
funding for reconstruction in the short to medium term, but was still developing
its management structures and procedures and recruiting staff. It was likely that
the PCO would not be fully functioning until September. Concerns had been
expressed about a funding gap over the summer and the consequent potential
for “social unrest”. MND(SE) had explored the possibility of extending CPA
projects or increasing the US Commanders’ Emergency Response Programme
(CERPSs) allocation for the South, but neither option appeared possible.
Ambassador Bremer had requested that additional UK resources should be
used to plug the potential gap between CPA and PCO activity.

® Since the emphasis in Iraq had shifted from reconstruction to development, the
bulk of the UK'’s future contribution clearly fell “within the competence of DFID”.

®* The Essential Services Plan, which had been due to complete by 30 June
2004 but had now been extended to August, remained the “major vehicle for
infrastructure reconstruction” in MND(SE).

®* The UK military would continue to implement projects funded by the US CERPs
and UK allocations for Quick Impact Projects (QIPs).

18. The 1 July meeting of the AHMGIR considered three papers on UK priorities for the
period up to the Iraqgi elections (scheduled for January 2005), on the political process,
security, and reconstruction and development.®

3 Public hearing, 22 June 2010, pages 12-13.
4 Minute CivSec PJHQ to PSO/CDS, 1 July 2004, ‘Infrastructure Reconstruction at Transition’.
5 Annotated Agenda, 1 July 2004, Ad Hoc Group on Irag Rehabilitation meeting.
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19. The MOD paper on security assessed that the security situation was unlikely

to improve in the immediate future.® The key to improving the security situation was
achieving “buy-in” to the political process and making progress on reconstruction, at the
same time as developing the capacity of the Iraqi Security Forces (ISF).

20. The paper highlighted the importance of job creation:

“A major Iraqgi complaint is the failure to meet expectations on reconstruction. This
has the double negative effect of creating disaffection with the political process and
increasing the pool of unemployed ...

“It will therefore be important that the reconstruction programme creates sufficient
jobs to significantly reduce the number of disaffected. In the short term, continuing
difficulties in the delivery of essential services could lead to serious disturbances
during the summer.”

21. The DFID paper on reconstruction and development assessed that the next six
months would be critical for establishing stability.” Better security would be “central if
there is to be sustained progress on reconstruction, effective engagement by the UN
and World Bank, and if the Iragi economy is to take off as it should”.

22. Other key issues for reconstruction and development were:

®*  minimising any potential slowdown in reconstruction and development in the
South over the summer, in particular as new US structures became established;

® building the capacity of Iraqi institutions to manage reconstruction;

® helping the IIG conclude debt relief negotiations and setting the foundations for
macro-economic stability;

® SSR and access to justice; and

® strengthening social cohesion by supporting Iraqi participation in the political
process, strengthening civil society’s ability to advocate for the poor, and
supporting the development of the Iraqi media.

23. At the meeting, Mr Benn welcomed the fact that “Iraqis were clearly in charge and
their voices were being heard”.2 The UK was moving “from a phase of doing things
for the Iraqis to supporting them doing it for themselves”. The UK’s focus was now on
engaging the UN and World Bank, plugging any funding gap over the summer, and
supporting Iraqi institutions to manage the reconstruction process and access funds.

& Paper MOD, [undated], ‘Security: The Next Six Months’.

7 Paper DFID, [undated], ‘Iraq Reconstruction and Development: UK Priorities for the Period up
to the Elections’.

8 Minutes, 1 July 2004, Ad Hoc Group on Iraq Rehabilitation meeting.
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24. The meeting endorsed the three papers, and commissioned the FCO to co-ordinate
an integrated UK strategy covering the period up to the Iraqi elections for discussion at
the meeting of the Defence and Overseas Policy Committee (DOP), a sub-Committee
of the Cabinet, on 15 July.

25. In his first report from Basra on 12 July, Mr Simon Collis, the British Consul
General, reported that no PCO staff had yet arrived in Basra to spend the South’s
US$2.3bn projected share of IRRF2.° He continued:

“... no one here — including my US counterpart — knows yet how the third entirely
new organisation in just over a year' will organise itself and do business. There
must be a high risk that money will be spent slowly, inappropriately, and without
adequate consultation with ourselves or, more importantly, the Iraqis.”

26. Mr Collis also advised that there were still no effective mechanisms in place to
enable Iraqgi ministries to release funds to Basra.

27. The strategy paper commissioned by the AHMGIR on 1 July was circulated to
members of DOP on 13 July.” The introduction to the paper said that it offered:

“... a strategic look at the position we want Iraq to be in at the end of January 2005;
risks to our strategy; and priority areas in which the UK can help ensure success.”

28. The paper, which had been produced by the FCO, defined the political, security and
“reconstruction and economic” objectives for the period up to the Iraqi elections. The
three objectives for reconstruction and the economy were:

® a functioning Iraqi Government in Baghdad and at governorate level capable of
delivering basic services;

® reconstruction programmes funded by the PCO, the UN and World Bank Trust
Funds, bilateral donors and the Iraqi Government which were delivering jobs and
improvements to infrastructure and services; and

® areduction in subsidies and an agreed IMF programme leading to a debt
settlement by December.

29. The paper identified security as the most significant risk to achieving those
objectives, in particular the risk of “a terrorist spectacular” against either the IIG
or the UN. Other risks included infrastructure failures over the summer leading to
popular discontent.

® Telegram 76 Basra to FCO London, 12 July 2004, ‘First Impressions of Basra’.

© The PCO, following the Office of Reconstruction and Humanitarian Assistance (ORHA) and the Coalition
Provisional Authority (CPA).

" Paper FCO, 13 July 2004, ‘Irag: The Next Six Months’.

202


http://www.iraqinquiry.org.uk/media/225249/2004-07-12-telegram-76-basra-to-fco-london-first-impressions-of-basra.pdf
http://www.iraqinquiry.org.uk/media/225259/2004-07-13-paper-fco-iraq-the-next-six-months.pdf

10.2 | Reconstruction: July 2004 to July 2009

30. Based on those objectives and risks, the two “reconstruction and development”
priorities were:

® To bridge funding shortfalls over the summer, when CPA and Development Fund
for Iraq (DFI) projects ended, by implementing DFID and MOD job creation
and infrastructure programmes. The UK had to maintain pressure on the US to
spend its money in the South, quickly.

* To press the UN and the World Bank to send key staff back to Iraq.

31. The paper identified monthly milestones on the political process, reconstruction,
and SSR tracks between July 2004 and January 2005.

32. At the DOP meeting, chaired by Mr Blair, Ministers reported that:

®* Progress was being made on reconstruction. Electricity production was at its
highest level so far (at 5,500 megawatts), the UK was providing expert advice
to the IIG, notably to Prime Minister Allawi’s office, and DFID and the MOD had
funds in place to mitigate a possible funding gap over the summer.

®* Implementation of the main infrastructure contracts was slow.?

33. DOP agreed the priorities set out in the paper, and commissioned DFID to
produce a note on infrastructure issues which Mr Blair might use in discussions with
President Bush.

34. The FCO paper was not the integrated strategy that Ministers had requested on
1 July.

35. The DFID note that was subsequently sent to No.10 welcomed the anticipated
arrival of the PCO Regional Co-ordinator in Basra, and continued: “But PCO
[Co-ordinator] will need a team to support him. Little sign of Supplemental [IRRF2]
contractors on the ground. Needs impetus.”"?

36. President Bush and Mr Blair spoke by video conference on 22 July. Mr Blair’s
briefing for the discussion, which had been produced by Mr Antony Phillipson, Mr Blair’s
Private Secretary, recalled that Mr Blair had told DOP that he would speak to President
Bush about the pace of reconstruction spending.' Since then, Sir Nigel Sheinwald,

Mr Blair’s Foreign Policy Adviser, had discussed the issue with Dr Condoleezza Rice,
the US National Security Advisor. Mr Phillipson suggested that Mr Blair “might just
mention” UK concerns about the situation in the South.

2 Minutes, 15 July 2004, DOP meeting.
13 Letter Malik to Quarrey, July 2004, [untitled].
4 Minute Phillipson to Prime Minister, 22 July 2004, ‘VTC with President Bush, 22 July’.
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37. The record of the video conference did not include any reference to reconstruction.’

38. The Annotated Agenda for the 22 July meeting of the AHMGIR stated that the
responsibility for IRRF2 had passed from the US Department of Defense (DoD) to

the US State Department.'® The State Department wanted to review US priorities to
ensure they were “developmentally sound” and to shift resources from infrastructure to
governance; the UK had urged quick decisions to avoid delaying disbursements.

39. The Annotated Agenda advised that a PCO Regional Co-ordinator would arrive
in Basra at the end of July and projects would start in September. It appeared that the
US was giving priority to programmes “in ‘their’ areas”; there was therefore a risk of a
reconstruction gap in the South. The need to speed up US reconstruction in the South
had been raised at a recent video conference between Mr Blair and President Bush.

40. The Annotated Agenda set out the action that the UK was taking, in addition
to lobbying the US to speed up their efforts, to address the possible short-term
funding gap:

® The MOD was seeking a further £10m from the Treasury for QIPs.

®* DFID was funding a five-person Project Continuity Team (PCT) based in the
PCO to help implement former CPA(South) projects. The PCT had already
deployed.

®* DFID was funding a 10-person Technical Advisory Team (TAT) comprising
infrastructure and other specialists to help link Iraqi priorities and PCO plans.
The team was expected to deploy to Iraq in August.

¢ DFID had developed a £16m programme to generate employment opportunities
and provide an emergency response facility to deal with critical failures in
essential services in the South over the next six months. The programme would
start immediately.

41. The Annotated Agenda also stated that the IMF was seeking early agreement on a
Stand-By Arrangement for Iraq (a precondition for a Paris Club deal on debt reduction).
DFID hoped to deploy advisers to support the Iragi Government in its negotiations with
the IMF.

42. A UK Trade and Investment (UKTI) secondee to the PCO told an official at the
British Embassy Baghdad on 7 August that he was not aware of any PCO policy to
withhold support from Basra in favour of US areas."” The official described the secondee
as “generally very well informed on PCO policies”.

15 Letter Phillipson to Adams, 22 July 2004, ‘Prime Minister’s VTC with President Bush, 22 July: Iraq
and MEPP'.

6 Annotated Agenda, 22 July 2004, Ad Hoc Group on Iraq Rehabilitation meeting.

7 Email FCO [junior official] to FCO [junior official], 7 August 2004, ‘PCO Manning in Basra’.
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43. Section 9.3 describes the Sadrist uprising in Najaf in early August, and the
deteriorating security situation across Iraq.

44. Mr Blair concluded at the end of August that Prime Minister Allawi needed “help
now”. That help included accelerating the pace of reconstruction, so that Iragis saw
improvements before the January 2005 elections.

45. Mr Phillipson wrote to the Cabinet Office on 20 August to commission a:

“... full picture of the situation in Iraq after the National Conference,'® how we are
going to get from here to successful elections in January, and the challenges we
will face.”"®

46. Mr Phillipson advised that the request followed a “long discussion” the previous day
with Mr Blair, who had observed that the security situation, the slow rate at which the ISF
was being trained and equipped, and “ongoing difficulties” with reconstruction posed a
real risk to the achievement of the UK’s objectives in Iraq.

47. The British Embassy Office Basra reported by telegram on 24 August that the PCO
Regional Co-ordinator had now arrived.?° The Co-ordinator expected the PCO to “have
an impact on the ground” in the last quarter of 2004, the British Embassy Office doubted
that the PCO could meet that timeline.

48. On 27 August, in response to Mr Phillipson’s commission, the IPU provided a paper
for the Cabinet Office.?" Mr Neil Crompton, the Head of the IPU, advised Mr Straw’s
Private Office that the paper contained “little new in policy terms”.

49. The IPU paper concluded that the strategy agreed by DOP on 15 July was the right
one, but would require regular fine-tuning.?? Its key judgements included:

®* The lIG had made a good start, but needed to deliver results soon, particularly
on security but also on essential services.

®* There was growing “disquiet” in the “previously benign” South, reinforced by
a sense that Baghdad and the US were neglecting its interests. Politically,
Basra and Maysan were paralysed by power struggles, hindering work on
reconstruction and security.

® |raq was “awash with reconstruction funds”. The challenge was delivering
quickly on the ground. Security was a major hindrance.

8 From 15 to 18 August a National Conference was held to select an Iragi Interim National Council (IINC)
of 100 members to oversee the Iraqi Interim Government until the election of the Transitional National
Assembly in January 2005.

% Letter Phillipson to Fergusson, 20 August 2004, ‘Irag: Next Steps’.

20 Telegram 130 Basra to FCO London, 24 August 2004, ‘southern Irag: PCO and Saudi Development
Fund’.

21 Minute Crompton to Private Secretary [FCO], 27 August 2004, ‘Irag: Next Steps’ attaching Paper IPU,
27 August 2004, ‘Iraq: Next Steps’.

22 Paper IPU, 27 August 2004, ‘Irag: Next Steps’.
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50. The paper stated that President Bush was letting US officials in Baghdad “make the
running”, and recommended that the UK focus its effort with the President on a few key
areas where Washington could make a difference, including ensuring that the US did not
take reconstruction in the South for granted.

51. The paper retained the three reconstruction objectives that DOP had agreed on

15 July (a functioning Iragi Government, reconstruction programmes funded by others
delivering quickly and well, and a reduction in subsidies and an agreed IMF programme
leading to debt relief by December 2004).

52. Mr Phillipson passed the IPU paper to Mr Blair, after discussing it with

Sir Nigel Sheinwald.?® Mr Phillipson’s covering minute stated that the IPU paper was
“too vague”, did not reflect the “loss of control” in Basra and elsewhere, and did not offer
a clear way forward. He recalled that Mr Blair had asked for the “unvarnished truth so
that we can engage in a frank discussion about how we can help the I1G restore control”.

53. Mr Phillipson recommended that a new paper should be commissioned, broken into
three sections:

®* how to ensure that the elections took place, on time, in January 2005;
®* how the Sunni triangle could be brought “back under control”; and
®* how order could be restored in Basra.

54. Mr Phillipson continued that one aspect of the effort to bring the Sunni triangle back
under control should be “a short-term programme of intensive reconstruction to make a
visible impact to people’s lives — a Sunni outreach programme”.

55. Mr Blair set out his analysis of the issues in a note to Sir Nigel Sheinwald,
Mr Phillipson, Mr Jonathan Powell (No.10 Chief of Staff) and a junior member of his
No.10 staff on 29 August.?* He wrote:

“Our strategy is fine in one sense: Iraqiisation of security and support for the
democratic political process. The problem is that the urgency of the situation may
overwhelm us and make our timelines for Iraqgiisation naive.

“The fact is Allawi needs help now; and there has to be a clear sense of our gripping
the situation now.”

56. Mr Blair identified nine immediate actions, including:

® providing Prime Minister Allawi with “first-class political, media and strategic
capability ... now”, drawing on “the best home-grown Iraqi talent” supported by
“our own people” who should be “hand-picked” immediately;

23 Minute Phillipson to Prime Minister, 27 August 2004, ‘Iraq: Next Steps’.
2 Minute Prime Minister to Sheinwald, 29 August 2004, ‘Iraq’.
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® examining DFID’s assistance to key Iraqi ministries, in particular defence,?
“to ensure real robustness and ... if necessary, our people put in”; and

® unblocking funding for reconstruction, in the Sunni triangle and elsewhere,
as the “key to winning hearts and minds”.

57. Mr Blair concluded:

“When | meet Allawi in September, it should be with a coherent plan to change
the situation.”

58. Mr Benn visited Iraq from 31 August to 1 September, despite significant security
concerns.? He reported to Mr Blair on 3 September that despite worsening security,
some progress was being made:

“But the pace of reconstruction is still too slow ...

“‘DFID’s approach of encouraging the international system to help rebuild Irag and
working through bilateral programmes at the national level (to build capacity in key
ministries) and in the South (to help create jobs, renew infrastructure and reduce
poverty) is still right. But | will want to see substantial progress on spending and
delivery before committing any more to the [World Bank and UN] Trust Funds.

| have therefore concentrated on new bilateral programmes this financial year.”?”

59. Mr Benn reported that, while in Iraq, he had announced new funding for projects
in the South to respond to critical needs in essential services and create jobs and build
capacity in the four southern Governorates. The MOD had also secured additional
funding for QIPs.

60. Mr Benn concluded: “We will need to stay flexible in responding to changing
circumstances.”

61. The projects referred to by Mr Benn were the £16.5m southern Iraq Employment
and Service Programme (SIESP) and the £20.5m Governorates Capacity Building
Project.?8

62. On 3 September, at the request of the MOD, the Current Intelligence Group (CIG)
assessed the impact of the recent Shia violence on the situation in MND(SE).*

25 Support to the Iraqgi Ministry of Defence was provided by the MOD.

2% _etter Gibbons to Simpson, 23 August 2004. ‘Ad Hoc RMV - Hilary Benn’s Visit to Iraq’.

27 Letter Benn to Prime Minister, 3 September 2004, ‘My Visit to Iraq’.

2 Paper DFID, 4 November 2009, ‘Iraq — DFID Timeline and Financial Commitments: 2003 — 2009’
2 CIG Assessment, 3 September 2004, ‘Irag Security: Shia Violence in Multinational Division

(South East)'.
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63. The CIG judged that the situation in MND(SE) remained “fragile” and that there
had been considerable loss of public support for the MNF. Most Shia were likely to
continue to support the political process, but their consent depended on expectations
being met, including elections held on schedule and a government that reflected
their majority status.

64. A continuing failure to improve public order, restore public services or create jobs
would also increase disillusionment, risking renewed unrest.

65. During Mr Benn'’s visit to Iraq, officials in the British Embassy Office Basra raised
concerns over the operation of the World Bank and UN Trust Funds.*°

66. DFID responded to those concerns on 6 September:

“Basra are right that getting PCO and Trust Fund programmes moving faster is
critical, but not that our contribution to the Trust Funds is pointless.”

67. The Trust Funds had several purposes:

“®  to deliver reconstruction on the ground,;

® to allow donors to pool resources and streamline procedures. This reduces
their overheads, and gives the Iraqgis fewer donors with their own priorities
and procedures to negotiate with; and

® to encourage the UN and the World Bank to re-engage”.

68. The World Bank and the UN had now started disbursing money from the Trust
Funds, and the Iraqgi Minister for Planning and Development Co-ordination had told
Mr Benn that he was “much happier” with collaboration with the World Bank and UN.

69. DFID concluded the Trust Funds had been set up “to deliver medium-term benefits
to Iraq rather than quick fixes”. The test now was delivery.

70. On 9 September, Sir Nigel Sheinwald and Mr David Quarrey, a Private Secretary to
Mr Blair, sent Mr Blair a minute reporting on their recent visit to Iraq, for use in Mr Blair’s
video conference with President Bush later that day.®"

71. The minute stated that a “joined up programme” was needed, including:

* an effective counter-insurgency strategy to “regain control of cities in the
Sunni triangle”;

® an lIG strategy for Sunni outreach;
® support for Prime Minister Allawi’s office; and

% Telegram 1 DFID to FCO Baghdad, 6 September 2004, ‘Southern Iraq: Trust Funds’.
3 Minute Sheinwald and Quarrey to Blair, 9 September 2004, ‘Iraq’.
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* economic development. DFID was making good progress “in helping to get the
economic framework right. But hardly anyone thinks that the ordinary Iraqgi will
see a major dividend before the elections in January.”

72. During his visit, Sir Nigel met Prime Minister Allawi, who stated that the political,
economic and capacity-building strands were linked; he hoped for significant progress
in each before November.3? A copy of the record of that meeting was sent to Mr Benn’s
Principal Private Secretary.

73. Mr Benn told Cabinet on 9 September that during his visit to Baghdad and Basra, he
had been able to “feel the difference” since the transfer of sovereignty.®* Sunni outreach
was needed in the South, where the mood was one of “persistent victimisation”.
Reconstruction activity was continuing, but had been adversely affected by the

security situation.

74. During his video conference with President Bush on 9 September, Mr Blair raised
both the need to accelerate Iraqiisation and for enhanced capacity within the 11G, without
which “too much fell on Allawi himself’.** The existing timelines for improved security and
services were “too long” and risked delaying the election.

75. Mr Quarrey wrote to Mr Benn’s Principal Private Secretary on 14 September,
responding to Mr Benn’s 3 September visit report:

“The Prime Minister believes that we must continue to do all we can on this
[reconstruction], and particularly to make sure that ordinary Iragis see a more
tangible benefit before the elections. We have a particular responsibility to deliver
in the South. We agree that it is sensible to focus UK resources on bilateral
programmes while the multilateral Trust Funds remain ineffective.”3®

76. Mr Blair chaired a meeting of the Ad Hoc Ministerial Group on Iraq on
16 September.%

77. Mr Blair’s Chairman’s Brief stated that one purpose of the meeting was to:

“... galvanise the key departments and ensure they give Iraq their full attention
in the next 5 months, in order to achieve the necessary results on the ground
in the run-up to elections”.*

32 Letter Quarrey to Owen, 9 September 2004, ‘Irag: Nigel Sheinwald’s Meeting with Allawi, 8 September’.
33 Cabinet Conclusions, 9 September 2004.

34 |etter Phillipson to Adams, 9 September 2004, ‘Prime Minister’s VTC with President Bush,

9 September’.

% Letter Quarrey to Malik, 14 September 2004, ‘Iraq: Your Secretary of State’s Visit'.

% Record, 16 September 2004, Ad Hoc Ministerial Group on Irag meeting.

%7 Briefing Cabinet Office, 16 September 2004, ‘Ad Hoc Ministerial Group on Iraq meeting to be held in the
Cabinet Room on Thursday 16 September 2004 at 0830: Chairman’s Brief’.
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78. The Group agreed that the MOD, DFID and the FCO would produce specific
suggestions for how progress could be made in Iraq which Mr Blair could put to
President Bush when they next spoke:

“e  MOD to make recommendations on how ISF capacity will develop ...

®* DFID to advise on where blockages can [be] removed to speed up the impact
of reconstruction funding.

®* FCO to advise on what political strategy Allawi should be pursuing and his
capacity to deliver it.”38

79. Sir Nigel Sheinwald met Dr Rice during his visit to Washington from 16 to

17 September.*® He reported to Mr Blair that he had raised the continuing criticisms of
the pace of the US reconstruction effort. Dr Rice had said that she did not understand
why, after many enquiries, there were still blockages. Sir Nigel commented that “there
was no sense that the NSC [National Security Council] was chasing this down, or that
anyone else was”.

80. Prime Minister Allawi visited London on 19 and 20 September.4°
81. Mr Quarrey’s briefing for Mr Blair advised that he might:

¢ offer whatever support Prime Minister Allawi needed for his office;

® encourage him to see reconstruction and development as “integral to his wider
political strategy”;

® encourage him to associate the |IG very visibly with successes on the ground;

® reassure him of UK support for debt relief. Iraqg might not get the 95 percent
relief that the 11G and US were pushing for, but the UK wanted relief to be well
above 80 percent; and

® encourage him to press the UN and Member States for a substantial increase
in support.*!

82. During his private meeting with Mr Blair on 19 September, Prime Minister Allawi
outlined his four-point strategy for Iraq covering the political process, the economy,
security (the most important aspect of the strategy and his personal focus) and
institution building.*?

% Record, 16 September 2004, Ad Hoc Ministerial Group on Irag meeting.

% Minute Sheinwald to Prime Minister, 20 September 2004, ‘Visit to Washington’.

40 |_etter Sheinwald to Adams, 19 September 2004, ‘Iraq: Prime Minister’s Meeting with Prime Minister
Allawi, Sunday 19 September’.

41 Minute Quarrey to Prime Minister, 18 September 2004, ‘Iraq: Your Meeting with Allawi’ attaching Briefing
Cabinet Office, [undated], ‘Briefing Notes for Allawi Visit'.

42 | etter Sheinwald to Adams, 19 September 2004, ‘Iraq: Prime Minister’s Meeting with Prime Minister
Allawi, Sunday 19 September’.
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83. Mr Blair asked Prime Minister Allawi whether he had the “infrastructure” around
him to implement 1IG policy. Prime Minister Allawi agreed there was a problem. Mr Blair
said that the UK would send “two or three people” to Baghdad to work on the issue. On
reconstruction, Mr Blair said that each project needed to be properly publicised as an
achievement of the 1IG and Prime Minister Allawi.

84. Mr Blair, Prime Minister Allawi and several Iraqi Ministers discussed reconstruction
and the economy over lunch.*® The Iraqgi delegation said that there had been good
progress on reconstruction in recent months, but the pace of delivery was still far too
slow. Nor were donors delivering on their commitments to the World Bank and UN Trust
Funds. Mr Blair said that there needed to be absolute clarity on where the blockages on
funding were.

85. Prime Minister Allawi stressed the need for a generous debt reduction package that
would encourage foreign investment, and asked the UK to play a major role in the Iraq
Grand Port project on the Faw peninsula.

86. An Iraqi delegation led by Prime Minister Allawi held a roundtable meeting on
reconstruction with Mr Straw, Mr Benn and Mr Hoon on 20 September.**

87. The FCO reported that Prime Minister Allawi’s main theme had been the importance
of progress on reconstruction and its link to security.

88. Mr Mehdi Hafez, Iragi Minister of Planning and Development Co-ordination, outlined
progress towards an agreement on debt relief. Mr Benn emphasised the importance of
reducing fuel subsidies if Iraq was to secure an IMF programme. Mr Hafez said that the
IIG was committed to reducing subsidies (which he estimated to account for 50 percent
of government expenditure), but there were political sensitivities.

89. During a discussion of the World Bank and UN Trust Funds, Mr Benn encouraged
Prime Minister Allawi to press the UN to deploy staff to Iraq and to speed up
disbursements from their Trust Fund. The Iraqi delegation said that the reluctance of
the World Bank and IMF to engage raised questions about the value of multilateral (as
opposed to bilateral) assistance. Mr Benn said that “DFID was concentrating on bilateral
projects with 2004/05 money”. Mr Hafez confirmed that the 1IG was content with the
DFID programme.

90. DFID sent the note on how to speed up reconstruction funding requested at

the 16 September meeting of the Ad Hoc Ministerial Group on Iraq to No.10 on

23 September, to inform a telephone conversation between Mr Blair and President Bush
the following day.*®

43 Letter Quarrey to Owen, 19 September 2004, ‘Iraq: Prime Minister’s Lunch with Allawi, 19 September’.
4 Telegram 73 IPU to Baghdad, 20 September 2004, ‘Iraq: Visit of Allawi: Meeting with Foreign Secretary.
Mr Benn and Mr Hoon'.

45 Letter Drummond to Quarrey, 23 September 2004, ‘VTC with President Bush’ attaching Briefing DFID,
[undated], ‘Prime Minister’s Video-Conference with President Bush’.
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91. The DFID note advised that:

* |raqg’s infrastructure had now been “stabilised” and some improvements had
been made. But Iraqi citizens did not see that; it was vital for security that visible
progress was made fast, and that the |G told Iraqi citizens what was being
achieved.

®* There were “very few” PCO staff in the South. Could the US speed up the
deployment of PCO staff, and give USAID a bigger role?

® lraqi systems were not yet working. The US and UK needed to press Prime
Minister Allawi to get Iraqi oil revenues into the provinces, and press the UN and
World Bank to deploy experts.

92. Mr Quarrey’s briefing for Mr Blair suggested that he could refer to Prime Minister
Allawi’s concern about the pace of delivery on reconstruction.*

93. In a telephone conversation with President Bush on 24 September, Mr Blair set out
three priority issues, as discussed with Prime Minister Allawi:

® the need to strengthen Prime Minister Allawi’s office;
® accelerating work to show the ISF had capacity to act; and
® increasing the pace of development activity.*’

94. On 1 October, in response to a request for advice from Mr Benn’s Private Secretary
on the World Bank and UN Trust Funds, a DFID official advised that:

“... implementation is proceeding, but not as quickly as we would wish or had
anticipated when we decided to contribute to them in February”.#

95. There was as yet insufficient evidence to decide whether DFID should make
further contributions to the Trust Funds. Equally, withdrawing UK funds from the Trust
Funds would be difficult to justify and would undermine UK efforts to persuade other
donors (especially those not present on the ground in Iraq) to contribute to the
reconstruction effort.

96. Iraqi Deputy Prime Minister Dr Barham Salih presented the 1IG’s National
Development Strategy (NDS) at the third meeting of the International Reconstruction
Fund Facility for Iraq (IRFFI) Donor Committee in Tokyo on 14 October.*

46 Minute Phillipson to Prime Minister, 23 September 2004, ‘Phonecall with President Bush,

24 September’.

47 Letter Quarrey to Owen, 24 September 2004, ‘Prime Minister's Phone Conversation with
President Bush, 24 September’.

48 Minute DFID [junior official] to DFID [junior official], 1 October 2004, ‘Iraq Trust Funds: Secretary
of State’s Conversation with Ann Clwyd MP’.

4 Telegram 181 Tokyo to FCO London, 15 October 2004, ‘Irag: Tokyo Donor Committee Meetings,
13-14 October’.
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97. The NDS set out the social and economic reforms that the IIG intended to pursue,
but did not prioritise those reforms or include plans for their implementation.®

98. Dr Salih told the meeting that this was the first time a sovereign Iraqi Government
had presented its own vision of Irag’s future to the international community.5! Iraq
needed a quick agreement on debt relief and faster implementation of pledges made by
donors at the Madrid Donor Conference, in line with the priorities outlined in the NDS.

99. The IMF and World Bank presented a “relatively positive” assessment of Iraq’s
economy, including higher than expected oil revenues.

100. At the meeting, Mr Jim Drummond, DFID Director Iraq, underlined the importance
of Iraqi leadership of the reconstruction process, urged faster disbursement from the
World Bank and UN Trust Funds, and encouraged more donors to contribute to them.

101. The British Embassy Tokyo reported that the international community had come
together behind “a good Iraqi-led strategy”. Germany and France had engaged “more
than previously, but not yet with significant support”. There had been no significant new
pledges, but that was not surprising given the US$32bn pledged at Madrid and rising
Iraqi oil revenues.

102. Mr Quarrey described the meeting to Mr Blair as “important and successful”.? In
response, Mr Blair asked for a DFID paper on how the UK could ensure that the meeting
led to a visible acceleration in the delivery of reconstruction on the ground.*?

103. The lIG’s successor, the Iraqi Transitional Government (ITG), launched a revised
NDS in July 2005.

Reconstruction in areas regained from insurgent control, and Fallujah

104. Section 9.3 describes how, in the autumn of 2004, the 1IG and the Multi-National
Force — Iraq (MNF-I) reviewed the possibility of further military action to gain control of
Fallujah from the Sunni insurgency, including the debate between the US and UK on
how and when to take action.

105. A DFID official advised Mr Benn in advance of the 14 October meeting of the

Ad Hoc Ministerial Group on Iraq that the FCO and “UK military” were arguing against
an early clearance operation in Fallujah and for a “hybrid of security (cordon, precision
strikes) and political/economic initiatives ... and giving these time to work”.>*

%0 The Iraqi Strategic Review Board, September 2004, National Development Strategy 2005-2007.
51 Telegram 181 Tokyo to FCO London, 15 October 2004, ‘Iraq: Tokyo Donor Committee Meetings,
13-14 October’.

%2 Minute Quarrey to Blair, 15 October 2004, ‘Iraq Update’.

%3 Letter Quarrey to Naworynsky, 18 October 2004, ‘Iraq’.

% Minute DFID [junior official] to APS/SoS [DFID], 13 October 2004, ‘Irag: Ad Hoc Ministerial Group
Meeting on 14 October’.
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106. Mr Benn was also advised that there had been a “breakthrough” in the relationship
between the PCO and DFID in the South, with the PCO accepting and welcoming

the Technical Advisory Team (TAT). After many delays, the PCO had begun work

in the South.

107. Following talks in London, DFID was also seeking to work more closely with
MND(SE), to “synchronise” UK reconstruction and security efforts. MND(SE) was
“struggling” to disburse its QIPs and CERPs funds (totalling US$25m), largely because
of a lack of capacity. The TAT might be able to assist. A DFID team would visit Basra to
continue discussions.

108. The 14 October meeting of the Ad Hoc Ministerial Group on Iraq was briefed that
the US military was planning military action in Fallujah.®®

109. The Ad Hoc Ministerial Group on Iraq agreed that an operation to clear Fallujah
was right in principle but the UK should try to persuade the US to give Prime Minister
Allawi time to improve the political environment.

110. Mr Chaplin reported by telegram on the same day that the US planned to spend
US$3.4bn on “rapid reconstruction” in 18 “strategic cities” (defined as major population
or religious centres and real or potential areas of insurgency) in the run-up to the

Iraqi elections, including US$1.4bn in Baghdad and US$316m in Basra.*®* The US had
allocated US$75m for Fallujah, but all work there was currently suspended. The initiative
covered PCO, USAID and CERPs projects.

111. Mr Chaplin’s report prompted Mr Blair to request an update on developments in
Najaf.°” Mr Quarrey directed that request to the Cabinet Office.*®

112. Sir Nigel Sheinwald and Dr Rice discussed Iraq on 22 October.*® Sir Nigel reported
that they had agreed that not enough was being done in towns where the IIG had
regained control from insurgents. Dr Rice had said that she had (again) asked the NSC
to find out why reconstruction funding was moving so slowly.

113. Mr Blair discussed progress on reconstruction, especially in key cities after military
action, with Prime Minister Allawi by telephone on the same day.®® Prime Minister Allawi

said that effective reconstruction would have a positive impact on the security situation.

Mr Blair agreed and said he would mention it to President Bush. Mr Quarrey’s record of
the conversation was copied to Mr Benn’s Principal Private Secretary.

% Record, 14 October 2004, Ad Hoc Ministerial Group on Iraq meeting.

% Telegram 280 Baghdad to FCO London, 14 October 2004, ‘Irag: Reconstruction Projects in

Strategic Cities’.

57 Letter Quarrey to MOD [junior official], 18 October 2004, ‘Iraq’.

% Letter Quarrey to MOD [junior official], 18 October 2004, ‘Iraq’.

% Letter Sheinwald to Adams, 22 October 2004, ‘Conversation with US National Security Adviser,

Friday 22 October’.

80 Letter Quarrey to Wilson, 22 October 2004, ‘Iraq: Prime Minister’'s Conversation with Allawi, 22 October’.
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114. Mr Quarrey passed the Cabinet Office’s paper on reconstruction in Najaf and other
key cities and the DFID paper on how to accelerate reconstruction on the ground in the
wake of the Tokyo Donor Conference to Mr Blair on 22 October.®

115. The Cabinet Office paper concluded that “the general impression is that, as yet,
there is no systematic or co-ordinated approach to these key cities”.®? It identified a
number of lessons, including:

® It was possible for political deals to hold long enough for the [IG/PCO to
deliver enough reconstruction to start building public support and discredit the
insurgents.

®* There needed to be a sufficient continuing ISF presence for the 11G to remain
in control and to facilitate reconstruction.

* 1IG and to some extent PCO capacity to deliver reconstruction quickly was very
limited. CERPs delivered impact most quickly.

116. The DFID paper on the follow-up to the Tokyo donors meeting advised that while
the procedural obstacles to spending US and Trust Fund allocations had largely been
overcome, the security situation was worse.®® To “get round” that problem, there was
now a greater emphasis on using Iraqi systems and contractors. In that context, to
accelerate the pace of reconstruction, the UK needed to:

* Persuade the World Bank and UN at the top level to move fast, and to send
development specialists to Iraq. Mr Benn had lobbied the UN Secretary-General
Kofi Annan on 19 October.

* Provide funding and security for World Bank and UN liaison staff. DFID funded
and housed one liaison officer for each of the World Bank and UN in Baghdad,
and was considering funding a UN liaison officer in Basra.

® Support the PCO. The Head of the US Iraq Reconstruction and Management
Office (IRMO) had told the UK that he wanted to work closely with the UK, but
that he did not want UK staff in the PCO.

117. Mr Quarrey commented on the DFID paper:

“Lots of good points here about the UN and World Bank. But nothing on our bilateral
programme and what more we might be able to do with that ...”%*

6" Minute Quarrey to Prime Minister, 22 October 2004, ‘Iraq Reconstruction’.
62 Paper Cabinet Office, 22 October 2004, ‘Iraq: Developments in Key Cities’.
8 Paper DFID, [undated], ‘“Tokyo Follow-up’.

64 Minute Quarrey to Prime Minister, 22 October 2004, ‘Iraq Reconstruction’.

215


http://www.iraqinquiry.org.uk/media/211821/2004-10-22-minute-quarrey-to-prime-minister-iraq-reconstruction-including-manuscript-comment-and-attachments.pdf
http://www.iraqinquiry.org.uk/media/211821/2004-10-22-minute-quarrey-to-prime-minister-iraq-reconstruction-including-manuscript-comment-and-attachments.pdf

The Report of the Iraq Inquiry

118. Mr Quarrey commented on the Cabinet Office paper:

“Not an encouraging picture ... It looks like we are a long way from the sort of
integrated political/security/reconstruction packages for these key cities that we,
the US and Allawi keep talking about.

“We must do better on this. The lack of any reference in the DFID note to this key
issue is striking.”

119. Mr Blair replied: “We need to get tougher with DFID on this. Let me minute
Hilary [Benn]. It's not good enough.”®®

120. Major General Andrew Farquhar, the British Deputy Commanding General of
Operations in the Multi-National Corps — Iraq (MNC-I), reported on 24 October that the
US had allocated US$7m from CERPs for projects in the immediate aftermath of military
operations in Fallujah.®®

121. Mr Blair wrote to Mr Benn on 26 October:

“I remain concerned that actual delivery of reconstruction on the ground is far
too slow ...

“We must accelerate the pace of reconstruction, not least to support the political
process as we head towards the elections. The note [on the Tokyo donors meeting]
includes some good ideas on pressing the UN and World Bank. But we also need
to increase the impact of your bilateral programme in the short term. And we need
to find more effective ways of getting the US to spend their funds more quickly and
with greater impact.

“I am particularly concerned about the lack of follow-through on reconstruction in
those cities and towns where the 1IG, with MNF support, has regained control from
insurgents (e.g. Najaf, Samarra, Tal Afar). These are, of course, not in the MND(SE)
region where our spending is concentrated. But DFID has considerable experience
of post-conflict situations which | would like to see us using across Iraq.”®”

122. Mr Hoon briefed the 28 October meeting of the Ad Hoc Ministerial Group on Iraq
on US military plans for a “short, sharp campaign” in Fallujah.%?

123. At the meeting, Mr Benn said that DFID continued to press the PCO, but a recent
proposal to second a UK development adviser to the PCO had been turned down by the
US. It was difficult for the UK to offer additional assistance in cities like Fallujah “as the
US was already engaged and sufficient funds were available”.

8 Manuscript comment Blair on Minute Quarrey to Prime Minister, 22 October 2004, ‘Iraq Reconstruction’.
% Telegram 301 Baghdad to FCO London, 24 October 2004, ‘Iraqg: Fallujah: Military Preparations:

ISF Numbers and Capability’.

67 Minute Prime Minister to Secretary of State for International Development, 26 October 2004, [untitled].
% Minutes, 28 October 2004, Ad Hoc Ministerial Group on Iraq meeting.
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124. Mr Benn reported that he had spoken to UN Secretary-General Annan, and thought
it unlikely the UN would deploy more staff to Iraq before the elections (the UN currently
had two officers in Iraq, one supported by DFID).

125. Mr Benn said that he would be happy to help the MOD with funding for QIPs if it
was better able to implement projects than civilian experts.

126. Cabinet Office, DFID, FCO and MOD officials met on the same day to consider,
at No.10’s request, how to “push forward” PCO reconstruction efforts.®® The meeting
agreed that the UK should:

® increase efforts to monitor PCO activity across Iraq, although with a focus on
MND(SE); and

®* make an “open-ended” offer of support to the US for PCO programmes across
Irag (not just in the South).

127. By 29 October, preliminary airstrikes against targets in the Fallujah area
had begun.”

128. Mr Quarrey advised Mr Blair on 2 November that “planning for the post-conflict
phase remains inadequate, and the US now seem resigned to this”.”

129. A DFID official based in Basra advised Mr Drummond on 3 November that PCO
projects in the South remained “almost invisible” to the general public, and that Iraqi
engagement in and influence on PCO operations appeared to be minimal.”

130. Mr Blair met Prime Minister Allawi in Brussels on 5 November.

131. In preparation for the meeting, Mr Quarrey provided a list of “points that Allawi
needs to cover before he approves any military action” in Fallujah.” Those included
“the follow-up package of political and economic measures”. The US said they had
funding ready, but the 1IG’s own preparations looked inadequate. Prime Minister Allawi
had to take responsibility for those preparations.

132. At the meeting, Mr Blair said that:

“... he [Prime Minister Allawi] knew the military commanders were keen to move
now. But it was vital that we balanced the political and military priorities. Unless
there was an argument for an immediate move, then he believed we needed to take

8 Letter Cabinet Office [junior official] to Drummond, 28 October 2004, ‘Iraq: Monitoring and Accelerating
PCO Disbursement’.

70 Minute Dowse to Sheinwald, 29 October 2004, ‘Iraq Update — 29 October’.

" Minute Quarrey to Prime Minister, 2 November 2004, ‘Fallujah’.

2 Minute DFID [junior official] to Drummond, 3 November 2004, ‘PCO’.

3 Minute Quarrey to Blair, 4 November 2004, ‘Iraq: Breakfast with Allawi’.
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the necessary time to exhaust all avenues of dialogue with the Sunnis ... We also
needed to set out a package of reconstruction measures.”’

133. Following authorisation by Prime Minister Allawi, offensive operations began in
Fallujah on 8 November.”

134. Mr Chaplin described the UK’s involvement in that decision for the Inquiry:

“Our main involvement and the main thing we emphasised afterwards was that if
there had to be military action, then the [Iraqi] Government needed to organise itself
to ensure there was rapid follow-up, looking after displaced people, returning them
as soon as possible, looking after the humanitarian aspects. And the part of the
DFID team that was working closely with the Ministry of Health was heavily involved
in that ...”7®

135. Mr Benn replied to Mr Blair’s letter of 26 October on 10 November.”” He wrote:

“l share many of your concerns about the pace of reconstruction and development in
Irag. However, we should take encouragement from the Iraqgi Interim Government’s
National Development Strategy, the extra resources (about US$3bn) that the high oil
price gives them, and the new arrangements that Allawi is making in his own office,
with DFID advice, to lead reconstruction ...

“Security is much more difficult than we anticipated and is getting worse around
Baghdad. Many contractors, including those that we regularly use to work in
post-conflict environments such as Crown Agents, are unwilling to send staff outside
Baghdad or Basra at present. This is affecting all donors. But we can do more. Our
£6m employment generation project will start to create jobs this month ... | have
also allocated £10m to support essential services — water, sanitation and power — in
South-Eastern Iraq. We will top this up if necessary. We are working closely with UK
forces: DFID’s technical expertise is available to help them implement their Quick
Impact Projects, and military liaison teams will help us to make our projects happen.
We will talk to MOD about resources, as we look for other ways to maximise impact.

136. Mr Benn also highlighted DFID’s support for the elections, and his decision not to
channel further funds through the UN and World Bank Trust Funds.

4 Letter Phillipson to Adams, 5 November 2004, ‘Iraq: Prime Minister’s Discussion with lyad Allawi,
5 November 2004’.

s CNN World, 9 November 2004, Battle for Falluja under way.

6 Public hearing, 7 December 2010, page 19.

7 Letter Benn to Blair, 10 November 2004, [untitled].
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137. On Mr Blair’s suggestions that the UK needed to find more effective ways of getting
the US to spend its funds more quickly and with greater impact, and that DFID should
use its experience of post-conflict situations across Iraq (not just in the South), Mr Benn
responded:

“We will get closer to the Project Contracting Office (PCO). Our Basra sector
specialists are working with the PCO there, and the DFID Office in Baghdad has
close relations with PCO counterparts in Baghdad, including the new (good) head,
Bill Taylor. He has declined our offer of a senior reconstruction specialist but we
are offering technical help instead. This could help the PCO implement effective
reconstruction projects in areas where the Iraqi Interim Government regains control
from the insurgents.”

138. Mr Benn’s reply highlighted a number of decisions taken before Mr Blair wrote his
letter:

* DFID’s projects to create jobs and provide essential services in the South had
been announced in early September.

®* The decision not to channel further funds through the UN and World Bank Trust
Funds had also been made in early September.

®* DFID’s work with MND(SE) to help implement QIPs was under way by
13 October.

139. The FCO advised the British Embassy Baghdad on 15 November that, following
the meeting of officials on 28 October which had agreed that the UK should make an
open-ended offer of support to the PCO, DFID had confirmed that it could provide:

® technical expertise (for example a water or health expert); and

® expertise on post-conflict reconstruction, to help deliver reconstruction in cities
and towns where the 1IG had regained control.”

140. On 16 November, following a visit to Fallujah, Lieutenant General John Kiszely, the
Senior British Military Representative, Iraq, reported to the MOD and IPU that the scale
of the damage to buildings dramatically outstripped the figures that the US had used in
its press statement.” Soldiers in Fallujah had told him that between 90 and 95 percent
of civilians had left before the fighting had started.

141. General George Casey, MNF-I, had decreed that MNF-I's main effort should be
humanitarian assistance and reconstruction, and had appointed Lt Gen Kiszely “in
charge of reconstruction”.

8 Telegram 126 FCO London to Baghdad, 15 November 2004, ‘Iraq Reconstruction: UK Assistance for
the PCO’.
% Minute Crompton to Private Secretary [FCO], 16 November 2004, ‘Iraq: Fallujah’.
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142. Mr Crompton reported to Mr Straw’s Private Secretary that Lt Gen Kiszely was
“calm, but clearly taken aback by the damage he had seen”. The IPU was:

“...in touch with DFID to see whether they can assist with the humanitarian effort,
and are feeding in some ideas to Kiszely on how best to approach the reconstruction
task, using lessons learnt in Kosovo and elsewhere”.

143. The Annotated Agenda for the 18 November meeting of the AHMGIR reported

Lt Gen Kiszely’s conclusions, and that the Red Cross and Red Crescent were being
allowed into the city.®® At least US$58m had been earmarked for reconstruction. The
IIG estimated that there were 250,000 Internally Displaced People (IDPs) from Fallujah,
about 95 percent of whom were staying with family or friends. The Iragi Ministry of
Health reported that there were “no major humanitarian problems”.

144. The Annotated Agenda stated that Prime Minister Allawi had established a Cabinet
Reconstruction Committee, whose first tasks would be to co-ordinate reconstruction
spending in cities won back from insurgent control and to spend US$200m of Iraqi
money for emergency reconstruction in the period up to the elections. DFID advisers
were “linked in well” and assisting the Committee.

145. The Annotated Agenda also stated that the PCO had declined DFID’s offer to
“second a senior reconstruction specialist or more technical help in Baghdad”.

146. Gen Walker told the meeting there had been a slow start to reconstruction in
Fallujah.®' That was a failure of the 1IG and, in part, non-military US agencies. There
was no indication of an immediate humanitarian crisis.

147. Mr Benn said that he was prepared to provide Lt Gen Kiszely with a reconstruction
adviser, if one was required.

148. Mr Benn reported that more generally, security remained a significant constraint
on reconstruction, but that DFID programmes were progressing relatively well.

149. The AHMGIR agreed that:

®* DFID and the FCO should press the UN to deploy a senior, full-time
development expert to Baghdad;

®* DFID and the FCO should keep pressing the PCO for credible information
on reconstruction projects;

®* Mr Straw and Mr Blair should speak to their French counterparts about the
importance of agreeing a Paris Club debt deal;

®* Mr Benn should prepare a note on reconstruction activity in MND(SE) and
on wider reconstruction issues; and

¢ the FCO and DFID should prepare a note on why the PCO was proving slow
to deliver reconstruction.

8 Annotated Agenda, 18 November 2004, Ad Hoc Group on Iraq Rehabilitation meeting.
8 Minutes, 18 November 2004, Ad Hoc Group on Iraq Rehabilitation meeting.
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150. Sir Nigel Sheinwald spoke to Dr Rice later that day, and expressed his concern that
humanitarian and reconstruction efforts in Fallujah had been slow to get off the ground.??
He reported that Dr Rice shared that concern, but thought that some humanitarian
assistance was now getting into the city, and “everyone was adamant” that there was

no humanitarian crisis.

151. The FCO advised No.10 on 19 November that there were “plenty of resources
available” for Fallujah’s reconstruction.®® The IIG’s response was poorly co-ordinated.
The UK would monitor the |IG’s response, and would feed in advice on the best way to
reconstruct houses damaged in the fighting. The UK had advised Lt Gen Kiszely that the
most effective approach would be to give each family a sum of money “for them to go
and see to the re-building themselves”. That approach, used in Kosovo, would ensure
that the money was ploughed back into the Fallujah economy and secure residents’
“buy-in” to reconstruction.

152. In his weekly report to Gen Walker on 21 November, Lt Gen Kiszely advised

that planning for reconstruction was “well developed” within the US Embassy, led by
IRMO, but almost none had taken place in the [1G.2* Prime Minister Allawi was now
“cracking the whip”, which should lead to greater Iraqgi Ministerial engagement. With so
few inhabitants in the city, there was no humanitarian crisis, and the “vast majority” of
displaced people had found accommodation with extended family or friends. There were
some small tented camps around Fallujah, to which NGOs were delivering supplies. The
immediate priorities were to clarify the situation and co-ordinate activity; in the absence
of the IIG, that fell to MNF-I.

153. Lt Gen Kiszely also advised that his appointment as “MNF-I co-ordinator for
humanitarian assistance and reconstruction” had been prompted by Gen Casey’s
concern about the scale of the humanitarian and reconstruction challenge.

154. Lt Gen Kiszely told the Inquiry:

“... by the end of November/early December, it was quite clear that this [military]
operation was going to be successful. And the big concern for the Americans
was what was going to happen afterwards: was this going to be a microcosm, if
you like, of the campaign as a whole in which the reconstruction phase was not
properly planned for, or were they going to ensure that it was properly planned
and managed? And they very much focused on getting this right.”#

8 |etter Sheinwald to Adams, 18 November 2004, ‘Conversation with US National Security Adviser:
18 November 2004’

8 Letter Owen to Phillipson, 19 November 2004, ‘Iraq: the Political Process — Prospects for Elections
and Sharm EI-Sheikh’.

8 Minute Kiszely to CDS, 21 November 2004, ‘SBMR-I's Weekly Report (138) of 21 Nov 04’

8 Public hearing, 14 December 2009, page 16.
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155. President Bush and Mr Blair spoke by video conference on 30 November.

Mr Blair’s briefing stated that he should raise Prime Minister Allawi’s concern that
humanitarian and reconstruction assistance was not getting into Fallujah and other key
spots quickly enough.®

156. During the video conference, Mr Blair said that Fallujah “had gone well” and the
story of what US forces had found there — including evidence of torture chambers —
should be put into the public domain.®” He suggested that the operation had “sent a clear
message that the insurgents could not win”.

157. The record of the video conference did not include any reference to the
humanitarian and reconstruction effort in Fallujah or other “key spots”.

158. Ms Margaret Aldred, Deputy Head Overseas and Defence Secretariat in the
Cabinet Office, advised Sir Nigel Sheinwald on 1 December, in the context of a
report on the situation in Fallujah, that she had received reports that a DFID adviser
and a DFID-funded consultant attached to the Cabinet Reconstruction Committee
were beginning to make a difference.® Those individuals had been re-deployed from
within Iraq.®®

159. A second DFID-funded consultant, Dr Gilbert Greenall, had arrived in Iraq that day
to advise Lt Gen Kiszely on the phased return of IDPs to Fallujah.®®

160. Mr Suma Chakrabarti, the DFID Permanent Secretary, and Mr Drummond reported
to Mr Benn on 13 December:

“DFID provides the core of Allawi’s co-ordination team on Fallujah ...

“Fallujah demonstrates that neither the [IG nor the US thought through the
humanitarian aspects of military actions, though they had allocated money for
reconstruction. For the next few weeks we need to have immediate post-conflict
expertise in the DFID Office in Baghdad ...”%

161. Mr Benn told the 16 December meeting of the Ad Hoc Ministerial Group on Iraq
that the IIG, with the support of DFID advisers, had put together a package of basic
humanitarian support and funds for the reconstruction of homes in preparation for the
return of IDPs.®2 Ministers agreed to follow developments closely.

8 Minute Phillipson to Prime Minister, 29 November 2004, ‘VTC with President Bush, 1220 — 1300

30 November'.

87 Letter Quarrey to Owen, 30 November 2004, ‘Prime Minister’s VTC with President Bush, 30 November:
Iraq, Syria and Iran’.

8 Minute Aldred to Sheinwald, 1 December 2004, ‘Iraq’.

8 Letter Cabinet Office [junior official] to Asquith, 3 December 2004, ‘Iraq Senior Officials Group’.

% Minute Aldred to Sheinwald, 1 December 2004, ‘Iraq’.

9 Minute Chakrabarti/Drummond to Secretary of State [DFID], 13 December 2004, ‘Iraq Visit,

6-8 December’.

9 Minutes, 16 December 2004, Ad Hoc Ministerial Group on Iraq meeting.
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162. Section 9.3 describes the impact of operations in Fallujah on security and the
political process.

163. Five months later, on 12 May, the British Embassy Baghdad reported that Embassy
staff had visited Fallujah, hosted by US forces.® The scale of destruction was apparent,
but there was also progress:

®* Between 90,000 and 150,000 of Fallujah’s estimated 240,000 inhabitants
had returned.

* All water treatment plants, tanks and pipes had been restored and two new
pumping facilities had been installed.

® Electricity had been restored to between 80 and 100 percent of the main
residential area, but only to between 0 and 40 percent of the “industrial south”.

® Of the city’s 69 schools, 38 were open and 15 would open by the end of the
month. “Huge progress” had been made in restoring healthcare.

164. The Embassy commented:

“This may be an over-rosy view of developments in Fallujah, it was a determined
PR [public relations] effort, but the signs of life around the town spoke volumes.
Likewise, the prominence of Iraqis throughout the visit and US willingness to let
them lead was not what we had expected. Congratulations to the US Marines!”

Lessons from Najaf

In late January 2005, Dr Greenall and another DFID-funded consultant visited Najaf to
review progress since the US intervention in August 2004 and to identify lessons for future
operations in Iraq.%*

Their assessment was more positive than the Cabinet Office paper of 22 October 2004.

The consultants reported that although the short conflict had resulted in considerable
damage, there was a “permissive environment” on the streets. That could be attributed
largely to an effective post-conflict assistance strategy: US$48m had been allocated
for projects and “social payments”, with 156 projects being completed in the first

100 days after the uprising. Funding had come from CERPs, PCO funds re-directed
away from large infrastructure projects, and USAID. The impact on the local economy
had been substantial.

A key strength of the US military’s approach had been to engage directly with the
Provincial Governor and the Mayor to ensure local ownership. The Governor remained
frustrated, however, by the level of support from the Iragi Government.

9 Telegram 4393/05 Baghdad to FCO London, 12 May 2005, ‘Impressions of Fallujah: 12 May’.
% Telegram 85 Baghdad to FCO London, 3 February 2005, ‘Iraq: Post-Conflict Reconstruction Lessons

from Najaf’.
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Ms Lindy Cameron, the Head of DFID Baghdad, commented on the report that while Najaf
was not typical of “problem cities”:

“Nevertheless, it demonstrates the importance of having in place a clear strategy

for immediate post-conflict support so that the military can help civilian authorities
get instant access to funds, take immediate action, get essential services running
and put money into the local economy, starting a virtuous circle leading in the
longer-term (as in Najaf) to a conducive environment for large infrastructure projects,
re-establishment of normal market mechanisms and a benign force profile.”

There are no indications that Mr Blair or Ministers saw the report.

Agreement on debt relief for Iraq

165. Section 10.3 describes the UK Government’s role in negotiations towards a deal
to reduce Iraq’s debt.

166. On 24 September, as part of those negotiations, the Iragi Government undertook
to begin to reduce fuel subsidies by the end of the year, and to raise prices to “cost
recovery levels” by the end of 2009.%

167. On 21 November, Paris Club creditors agreed to reduce Iraq’s official debt by
80 percent (a reduction of US$31.1bn).%¢ The deal would be delivered in three stages:
30 percent immediately; 30 percent on IMF approval of a Stand-By Arrangement
(expected to be in 2005); and 20 percent on completion of the Stand-By Arrangement
(in 2008). Paris Club creditors also agreed generous terms for the repayment of the
residual debt.

168. Under the agreement, the UK wrote off US$1.39bn (£954m) in Iraqi debt
(£337m in UK financial year 2004/05, £337m in 2005/06 and £280m in 2008/09).%"

169. A Treasury briefing produced for Mr Brown stated that the deal represented an
important success for the international community, demonstrating an ability to act
together on an issue as divisive as Iraq.%

Taking the strain in the South, early 2005

170. Section 9.3 describes the UK’s continuing efforts to support the political process in
Iraq, and in particular ensuring that elections could take place on schedule at the end of
January 2005.

% IMF Staff Report, September 2004, Iraq: Use of Funds — Request for Emergency Post-Conflict
Assistance.

% Briefing Treasury, [undated], ‘Brief: Meeting with Barham Saleh, Deputy Prime Minister of Iraq’

% Letter Cabinet Office [junior official] to Aldred, 13 September 2011, ‘Iraq Inquiry: Request for Further
Information on Funding’.

% Briefing Treasury, [undated], ‘Brief: Meeting with Barham Saleh, Deputy Prime Minister of Iraq’.
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171. At the end of 2004, in response to continuing concerns that the US and the PCO
did not see the South as a priority and that the World Bank and UN Trust Funds were
not yet fully operational, DFID assessed that it would have to “take more of the strain
bilaterally in 20057, in particular on infrastructure and job creation in the South.

172. On 18 November, in response to a request from the FCO, Mr Collis reported on
the state of reconstruction in the South.® The 1IG was not funding any significant capital
projects in the South and the PCO remained a “weak and Baghdad-centric” organisation.
PCO projects would not have a significant impact on service delivery until well into 2005.

173. DFID officials met senior PCO officials in Baghdad on 2 December.'® The British
Embassy Baghdad reported that, in response to the security situation, the PCO planned
to focus on “low-hanging fruit” (visible projects such as repairs to schools and clinics)

at the expense of major longer-term reconstruction projects and building Iragi capacity.
In addition, if the US Congress did not agree further funding for CERPs, the PCO was
likely to reallocate funds from stable to less secure areas.

174. The Embassy concluded: “We need to fight to keep PCO funding in the South.”

175. At the 9 December meeting of the AHMGIR, Ministers commented that the PCO
was “large and unwieldy” and faced a difficult balance between quick fixes and long-term
reconstruction.’' UK influence was limited: the PCO was a US organisation following US
rules “though it was sometimes open to UK advice”. Much of its effort was being pulled
into Fallujah and away from the South.

176. Mr Chakrabarti and Mr Drummond visited Baghdad and Basra from 6 to
8 December to review DFID’s programmes and assess priorities for 2005.1%2

177. Their 13 December report to Mr Benn advised that with the PCO “diverted” to
immediate reconstruction work in cities around Baghdad, and the World Bank and
UN Trust Funds not yet fully operational, DFID would “have to take more of the strain
bilaterally in 2005”. DFID’s resources were, however, limited and “must be used to
support Iraqi initiatives and strengthen their capacity”.

178. On PCO activity in the South, the report stated:

“As junior partners in the coalition, our ideas are listened to, but our influence over
US spending will remain limited. We need to face up to the fact: the South will not
be a strategic priority for the US.”

% Telegram 200 Basra to FCO London, 18 November 2004, ‘Southern Iraq: Essential Services,
Reconstruction’.

%0 Telegram 455, Baghdad to FCO London, 5 December 2004, ‘Irag: Project Contracting Office (PCO):
Changing Priorities’.

0 Minutes, 9 December 2004, Ad Hoc Group on Iraq Rehabilitation meeting.

92 Minute Chakrabarti/Drummond to Secretary of State, 13 December 2004, ‘Iraq Visit, 6-8 December’.
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179. The report identified possible DFID priorities for 2005:

® continued support to strengthen Irag’s public administration, including Prime
Minister Allawi’s office;

® continued support for economic reform, including a renewed effort to get the
World Bank and IMF back into Baghdad. Their officials could be accommodated
in the “DFID wing” of the British Embassy;

® substantial, additional support for job creation and “emergency infrastructure
works” in the South; and

¢ a further contribution to the UN and World Bank Trust Funds when there was
hard evidence of delivery, and the UN was back on the ground.

180. Copies of the report were sent to the FCO, the MOD, No.10, the Cabinet Office
and officials in Baghdad and Basra.

181. DFID’s intentions were set out in more detail in a minute from Mr Drummond to
a DFID official two days later:

“... we will have to take more of the strain in 2005 on infrastructure. The TAT team
and others should begin thinking now about what can be done with UK resources
(possibly up to £50m) so that there are ideas ready to be appraised.”'%

182. That work would culminate in the agreement by Mr Benn of the £40m Iraq
Infrastructure Services Programme (lISP) in late February 2005.

183. Mr Chaplin reported on 15 December that the US review of IRRF2 had reduced
funding for water and power projects in Basra.’® The reallocations had not been based
on Iraqi advice or geographical need, but on a US desire to avoid breaching existing
contracts and the PCO’s belief that larger projects in the South could be more easily
funded by other donors.

184. Major General Jonathon Riley, General Officer Commanding (GOC) MND(SE),
reported on 20 December:

“Wherever | go ... | am greeted by Provincial Governors and others with the same
set of complaints: that the promises made to them have been broken, that things are
getting worse not better ... The increase in my QIPS delegation is massively helpful,
but the amount of money cannot change the overall situation. DFID is working really
very efficiently, and we have a real partnership here, but this is not natural territory
for them and again, their funds will not change the overall situation. The solution

lies with Central Government in Baghdad and the PCO, which together have raided
major projects in the South, such as the electricity programme, in order to fund
security. | have tried to point out that investing in the South now, where the security

198 Minute Drummond to DFID [junior official], 15 December 2004, ‘Iraq: Visit Follow-up’.
104 Telegram 475 Baghdad to FCO London, 15 December 2004, ‘Iraq: PCO Water and Power Sectors’.
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situation is benign will do two things: first, reward good behaviour and encourage
further progress ... and secondly, benefit the whole of the country ...

‘I am not responsible for economic regeneration, and | do not intend to become
a bore about it — so | mention it now — once, and once only. But since | am not
responsible, | cannot be made accountable for the failures of others.”"%

185. Mr Blair visited Baghdad on 21 December.%

186. Mr Chaplin’s briefing for Mr Blair described an Iragi Government that was
struggling to maintain supplies of power and fuel as the insurgency took hold, and that
had abandoned hope of visible progress on reconstruction before the elections.”

187. During his visit, Mr Blair asked Gen Riley for advice on “big-ticket” items that might
make a difference to the economy and essential services of southern Iraq.'®

188. Mr Quarrey’s report on the visit recorded that “Iraqiisation and political outreach
were key themes”.’® Mr Blair remained “very concerned about the slow pace of
reconstruction spending, especially in the South” and about the funding available for
Iragiisation, and wanted the UK to make a major effort to secure greater funding for
both, in particular from the US. A copy of the report was sent to Mr Benn’s Principal
Private Secretary.

189. Gen Riley responded to Mr Blair’s request for big-ticket projects on 3 January
2005, in his weekly report to Gen Walker."® He proposed that, at a minimum, the UK
should aim to build a 200 megawatt (MW) gas turbine plant in the South at a cost of up
to US$100m. USAID estimated that up to four additional power stations needed to be
constructed in Iraq each year to 2020, but only one was currently planned in the South,
which would be funded by Japan. A new power plant would be a visible contribution

to the South and to Irag, would boost long-term investment and would provide a more
reliable power supply to the oil sector, essential services and Iraqi citizens.

190. The MOD sent Gen Riley’s report to No.10 on 4 January."! It was not included in
Mr Quarrey’s weekly round-up on Iraq for Mr Blair (which issued on 7 January), and the
Inquiry has seen no evidence that the report was passed to Mr Blair."?

191. Gen Riley’s proposal was addressed in a DFID review of infrastructure
requirements in the South the following month.

%5 Report Riley, 20 December 2004, ‘GOC MND(SE) — southern Iraq Update — 20 December 04’.

%6 BBC News, 21 December 2004, Blair’s statement in Baghdad.

107 Telegram 494 Baghdad to FCO London, 21 December 2004, ‘Prime Minister’s Visit to Iraq,

21 December: Scenesetter’.

18 Report Riley, 3 January 2005, ‘GOC MND(SE) — southern Irag Update — 3 January 2005’.

109 |_etter Quarrey to Owen, 23 December 2004, ‘Prime Minister’s Visit to Iraq: Follow-up’.

10 Report Riley, 3 January 2005, ‘GOC MND(SE) — southern Irag Update — 3 January 2005'.

™ Letter Naworynsky to Quarrey, 4 January 2005, ‘Iraq: Update’ attaching Report Riley, 3 January 2005,
‘GOC MND(SE) — southern Iraq Update — 3 January 2005’

"2 Minute Quarrey to Prime Minister, 7 January 2005, ‘Iraq: Weekly Round-up’.
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Basra International Airport reopens to commercial traffic

UK forces continued to provide air traffic control and certain other services at Basra
International Airport (BIA) after the transition from the CPA to the IIG on 28 June 2004.

During the Occupation, the UK considered but rejected opening BIA to commercial flights,
due to the potential liability for the UK (see Section 10.1).

On 14 December, the UK and IIG signed a Memorandum of Understanding indemnifying
the UK Government and its agents against all claims arising from the provision of services
by UK personnel at BIA.™3

Following that agreement, BIA reopened to commercial traffic on 1 January 2005.'"
UK forces continued to provide support.

192. In a video conference with President Bush on 4 January, Mr Blair said that the US
and the UK should support Prime Minister Allawi’s new security plan (see Section 9.3)."°
A key issue would be funding. Reconstruction would not be a problem once the security
situation improved. Mr Blair asked if the US could, in the short term, redirect some US
reconstruction funding to security.

193. Sir Nigel Sheinwald sent Mr Stephen Hadley, US Deputy National Security
Advisor, a Note by Mr Blair on 10 January, and asked him to show it to President Bush
before their video conference the following day."® Mr Blair’s Note covered “our most
pressing problems”.

194. On Iraq, he judged:

“All the problems go back to security. Without it the politics are difficult, the
reconstruction shackled and the faith of Iraqis in the future undermined.”

195. Mr Blair considered that four actions were necessary:

® the Iraqiisation of security forces;
® spending money more quickly on reconstruction, especially of essential services;

®* Dbeing “very tough indeed on the election”, including by ensuring it went ahead
on schedule and encouraging participation; and

® signalling a timetable for the withdrawal of US and UK forces “when and only
when, we can point to real indigenous Iraqi strength”.

"3 Telegram 474 Baghdad to FCO London, 15 December 2004, ‘Iraq: Basra Airport’.

"4 Minute Allardice to DTI [junior official], 12 January 2005, ‘Ad Hoc Ministerial Group on Iraq
Reconstruction, 13 January 2005’ attaching Briefing, [undated], ‘Ad Hoc Ministerial Group on Iraq
Reconstruction’.

5 | etter Quarrey to Owen, 4 January 2005, ‘Prime Minister’'s VTC with President Bush, 4 January 2005;
Iraq, Iran and MEPP’.

116 | etter Sheinwald to Hadley, 10 January 2005, [untitled], attaching Note Prime Minister to

President Bush, 10 January 2005, ‘Note’. Mr Hadley succeeded Dr Rice as US National Security Advisor
later that month.
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196. Mr Blair wrote: “If we had security, the blunt truth is Iraq wouldn’t need much help
for reconstruction.” However, in those parts of Iraq where security was reasonable,
reconstruction funds should be spent more quickly. This would have a powerful
demonstrative effect. Mr Blair suggested to President Bush that they should get a report
on the speed and priorities of the reconstruction programme.

197. The record of the video conference did not include any reference to
reconstruction.™’

DFID reduces its budget for Iraq for 2005/06

198. At the end of December, DFID’s Europe Middle East and Americas Division
(EMAD) submitted its Delivery Plan for 2005 to 2008 to the DFID Management Board,
for approval.

199. DFID provided the Inquiry with a version of the Delivery Plan marked “Draft”,
but informed the Inquiry that this version could be the one that was submitted to
Management Board."®

200. In relation to Iraq, the draft Delivery Plan stated that DFID was seeking to “strike
a sensible balance between short-term fixes and longer-term development”.'® DFID
planned to scale down its assistance over the following three years, shifting from
“post-conflict reconstruction” towards targeted technical assistance.

201. Limiting EMAD expenditure on Middle Income Countries (MICs), including

Iraq, would be a “key factor” in ensuring that DFID met its target of spending at least
90 percent of country programme resources on Lower Income Countries (LICs) in each
year from 2005/06 to 2007/08. Attaining the target for 2005/06 would require some
£20m of in-year savings from MIC budgets.

202. The draft Delivery Plan stated that the current, agreed DFID budget for Iraq for
2005/06 was £86m (reducing to £45m and £30m in the subsequent financial years).
However:

“It has been agreed that £20m savings in MIC programmes should be found through
in-year and between-year management of spending. We expect the bulk of these
savings will be found from underspending on the Iraq budget; bringing the expected
spend on Iraq to closer to £66m than the full aid framework allocation of £86m ...”

203. EMAD invited the Management Board to agree that those savings should be
retained within EMAD, and used for its non-MIC programmes.

"7 Letter Quarrey to Owen, 11 January 2005, ‘Prime Minister’s VTC with President Bush, 11 January’.

"8 Email DFID [junior official] to Iraq Inquiry [junior official], 20 January 2016, ‘DFID docs on reduction

in Irag’s budget for 2005/06’.

"® Paper DFID, 22 December 2004, ‘Draft: Europe Middle East and Americas Division (EMAD): Director’s
Delivery Plan [draft] for 2005 — 2008’
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204. The 25 and 26 January 2005 meeting of DFID’s Management Board “noted that
the anticipated reduction (£20m) of programme spend in Iraq should enable ... LIC
commitments to be met in 2005/06”.'%°

205. Ajunior DFID official advised colleagues the following week that the Management
Board had imposed a “cap” on Iraq expenditure for 2005/06 of £65m."?' She commented
that the decision was “largely to ensure that we do not undermine the agreed MIC/LIC
targets”.

206. The official also advised that DFID’s overall budget was “running very hot” and that
DFID’s Finance Department had “both eyes” on the £40m of Iraq’s 2004/05 budget that
had not yet been allocated.

207. The £65m budget for Iraq for 2005/06 was formally confirmed on 14 March.'?2

208. DFID’s Iraq Directorate undertook internal exercises in February and March to
prioritise expenditure against the new, lower budget.'?

209. The March exercise estimated that “commitments and plans” for Iraq for 2005/06
totalled £123m (against the budget of £65m), of which:
®  £59m was “firm”;

® £55m was high priority (including £40m for the planned Iraq Infrastructure
Services Programme);

® £8.5m was medium priority; and
® |ess than £1m was low priority.'?*

DFID’s budget for and expenditure in 2005/06
Following the 25 and 26 January 2005 meeting of DFID’s Management Board, DFID
reduced its budget for Irag for 2005/06 from £86m to £65m.?°
DFID expenditure in 2005/06 was £82m. That comprised:

o £38m for “life support costs” (accommodation, security, medical services and other
services) provided by the FCO and charged to DFID (and other departments and
agencies) under a Service Level Agreement. Approximately half of that charge
related to services used in 2004/05 and half to services used in 2005/06;

e £35m for infrastructure projects; and

e £10m for governance projects.?

20 Minutes, 25/26 January 2005, DFID Management Board meeting.

21 Email DFID [junior official] to DFID [junior official], 31 January 2005, ‘Iraq: FINSTATS 3'.

22 Minute Calvert to [DFID] Directors, 14 March 2005, ‘Resource Allocation Round: 2005-08’.

23 Email DFID [junior official] to DFID [junior official], 14 February 2005, ‘Iraq: Forecast 2005/06’;

Email DFID [junior official] to Anderson, 11 March 2005, 2005/06 Commitments’.

24 Email DFID [junior official] to Anderson, 11 March 2005, ‘2005/06 Commitments’.

125 Minute Calvert to [DFID] Directors, 14 March 2005, ‘Resource Allocation Round: 2005-08’.

126 |_etter Cabinet Office [junior official] to Aldred, 1 July 2011, ‘Iraq Inquiry: request for further information
on funding’; Paper DFID, 21 December 2011, ‘A Note on DFID Iraq Programme Admin Spend for the

Iraq Inquiry’.
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The apparent overspend against DFID’s 2005/06 budget was caused by the FCO charge
for life support costs.

DFID’s expenditure on infrastructure projects peaked in 2005/06. Of the £45m spent on
non-life support costs in 2005/06, £35m — over 75 percent — was spent on infrastructure.?’
In comparison, DFID spent £15m on infrastructure in 2004/05 and £14m in 2006/07.

Priorities for 2005

210. In February, Ministers agreed UK priorities for 2005, including “reviewing
reconstruction to find ways to make a difference quickly”.

211. On 21 January, No.10 commissioned the Cabinet Office to produce a paper on
Iragiisation, the UK’s military options and a game plan for engaging the US, to support
a discussion on UK strategy after the Iraqi elections.'?®

212. The 28 January meeting of the Iraq Strategy Group (ISG) discussed a draft of that
paper.'?® Sir Nigel Sheinwald said that Mr Blair would also want the paper to consider
“‘what could be done to achieve quick and labour-creating results on reconstruction
including outside MND(SE)”.

213. Sir Nigel asked that the paper also consider the involvement of the wider
international community in military, police and civil administrative capacity-building.

214. The elections to the Transitional National Assembly (TNA) and Provincial
Assemblies took place across Iraq on 30 January 2005. The TNA did not convene until
16 March, after which negotiations to form the Iraqi Transitional Government (ITG)
continued into late April (see Section 9.3).

215. On 1 February, Mr Blair suggested to President Bush that they should focus on
four areas in order to exploit post-election momentum:

®* Jraqgiisation;

® political outreach, including “whittling away at the opposition, so that the hard
core were left isolated”;

® drawing in the international community; and

® reconstruction, including areas in which there could be a quick impact
(eg power generation).'*

127 |etter Cabinet Office [junior official] to Aldred, 1 July 2011, ‘Iraq Inquiry: request for further information
on funding’.

128 | etter Phillipson to Baker, 21 January 2005, ‘Irag: Future Strategy’.

28 Minute Ferguson to Sheinwald, 1 February 2005, ‘Iraq Strategy Meeting — 28 January 2005’

130 | etter Quarrey to Owen, 1 February 2005, ‘Prime Minister’s VTC with President Bush, 1 February’.
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216. Mr Blair proposed that these areas should be drawn into a plan by the ITG, which
the UK and US could then support.

217. On 3 February, just before the announcement of the election results, the Joint
Intelligence Committee (JIC) assessed the nature and strength of the insurgency.'!
Despite operational successes in Sunni areas:

“... the military campaign is not effectively containing the insurgency in Sunni areas.
Law and order, the pace of economic reconstruction, the availability of jobs and
general quality of life have not matched [Sunni] expectations. Most Sunnis perceive
themselves to be worse off economically, and in security terms than under Saddam.
Sunni ‘hearts and minds’ are being lost.”

218. The JIC assessed that the election results were likely to be less important in
determining Sunni support for the insurgency than the degree to which credible Sunnis
could be brought into the political process, “the speed at which reconstruction is taken
forward” and the duration of the coalition’s presence in Iraq.

219. Arevised Cabinet Office strategy, drawing on the JIC assessment, was submitted
to the 9 February Ad Hoc Ministerial Group on Iraq, chaired by Mr Blair."*2 The key
elements of the strategy for the coming year were:

® building the capability of the ISF;

® outreach by the ITG to bring in those currently supporting the insurgency;

¢ drawing in the international community and giving it a new sense of purpose
(including getting the UN to do more on reconstruction); and

* ‘“reviewing reconstruction to find ways to make a difference quickly”.

220. The strategy identified key “governance and reconstruction” challenges in 2005,
including:

* the weak capacity of Iraqgi Government institutions to drive reconstruction;

® sustained improvements in the availability of fuel and electricity needing difficult
reforms and a crackdown on corruption and sabotage;

* the limited presence on the ground of international agencies and NGOs; and
® ensuring all Iraq benefited (“the South is not a strategic priority for the US”).

221. The six “governance and reconstruction” actions for the UK before the ITG was
formed were:

®* preparing key messages to the new government on reconstruction priorities,
focusing on developing a stronger relationship between Baghdad and the
governorates;

* working with the US to make its reconstruction effort more effective. The US
should focus on rapid job creation, and directly fund Iragi ministries;

131 JIC Assessment, 3 February 2005, ‘Iraq: Insurgency and Counter-Insurgency’.
132 Paper Cabinet Office, 7 February 2005, ‘Iraq Strategy for 2005’.
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® supporting the handover of power to the new government, through the
DFID-funded consultancy team;'®

® pressing the UN, IMF and other donors to engage;

® completing the design of DFID’s new £40m power and infrastructure programme
for the South; and

¢ deciding on ways to expand visible job creation work in the South.

222. ITG ownership of governance and reconstruction would be crucial. The UK would
strengthen the ITG’s strategic communications capacity, to ensure that successes were
promulgated.

223. The strategy also identified a number of economic priorities:

® ensuring the UK “plays its part” in achieving a “fair and sustainable” solution to
Iraqg’s debt problems. Irag would need to secure comparable debt relief from
non-Paris Club debtors;

® encouraging Iraq to complete its IMF programme;
® continuing to support economic reform;

® promoting an “efficient, outward looking and transparent” oil and energy industry
and the transparent management of Irag’s oil reserves; and

® advising on an effective response to inflationary risks.

224. The strategy stated that the UK’s current posture in Iraq was costing around
£1bn a year, but did not comment on whether this amount was appropriate or sufficient.

225. In discussion, Ministers commented that it was essential that the security,

political and reconstruction tracks were synchronised if the UK was to achieve its
objectives in Iraq." If necessary, the UK should push ahead with plans for security and
reconstruction in MND(SE), in advance of developments in the rest of the country.

226. The Group approved the strategy and agreed that No.10 should pass an updated
version to the US, raising the issue of diversion of US funding for reconstruction projects
from the South to other parts of the country.

227. The Group also agreed that Mr Blair and Mr Benn should press Mr Annan and
Mr James Wolfensohn, President of the World Bank, to deploy staff to Basra.

228. Sir Nigel Sheinwald sent a revised version of the strategy to Mr Stephen Hadley,
US National Security Advisor, on 11 February.'®

33 A reference to DFID’s £4.2m Emergency Public Administration Programme, which was developed
to help establish the Prime Minister’s Office and the Cabinet and committee system.

3 Minutes, 9 February 2005, Ad Hoc Ministerial Group on Iraq meeting.

135 Letter Sheinwald to Hadley, 11 February 2005, ‘Iraq’ attaching Paper, ‘Iraq: Strategy for 2005’.
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229. At the meeting of the ISG on the same day, Mr Martin Dinham, DFID Director
Europe, Middle East and Americas, set out what DFID would do “in response to

the renewed Ministerial mandate to press ahead with reconstruction, particularly in
MND(SE)”."*® The £40m Iraq Infrastructure Services Programme (IISP) would be
approved in the next few weeks. More money was available for job creation if required.
But it was also key to get other donors engaged. Mr Benn and DFID officials were
lobbying the UN, World Bank and IMF. Officials in Basra were conducting a review of
infrastructure requirements to identify gaps.

230. Mr Blair wrote to Mr Wolfensohn on 16 February, highlighting the slow pace of
delivery on Trust Fund projects and the value of having core World Bank staff (rather
than a contracted liaison officer) in Iraq, and offering to provide accommodation and
security for World Bank staff in Baghdad and Basra.'’

231. Mr Benn wrote to Mr Wolfensohn the following day:

“We need to seek innovative ways of managing the difficulties and risks associated
with working in present-day Iraq. The [World] Bank might need to reallocate funding
to new projects that can be delivered ... One way to do this might be to channel

funding directly through provincial government systems to their priority projects.” %

232. Mr Benn repeated Mr Blair’s offer to provide support for World Bank staff in Iraq,
and highlighted the need for a strong World Bank presence in the power sector.

233. Mr Dinham followed up those proposals in meetings with World Bank officials
during a visit to New York and Washington from 21 to 24 February.'*®

234. During the meetings, World Bank officials argued that:

® Bank officials could achieve a lot from the Bank’s office in Amman, Jordan;

* there were presentational difficulties in being too closely associated with one
particular Member State; and

® operating in Iraq was expensive and difficult.

235. Mr Dinham rejected those arguments, pointing out that the UN was now
establishing a presence in Iraq with two permanent development specialists and a large
number of staff supporting the election process.

236. Mr Dinham also pressed the Bank to accelerate disbursement from its Trust Fund.
The UN was now performing better than the Bank. Mr Dinham suggested that the Bank

136 Minute Cabinet Office [junior official] to Sheinwald, 11 February 2005, ‘Iraq: Strategy Group'.

137 Letter Blair to Wolfensohn, 16 February 2005, [untitled].

138 | etter Benn to Wolfensohn, 17 February 2005, ‘Iraq Reconstruction’.

3 Minute Dinham to Shafik, 28 February 2005, ‘Visit to Washington and New York, 21-24 February 2005:
Discussion of Iraq Issues’.
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might redirect some Trust Fund money into co-financing DFID’s IISP, or through the
provincial governments which DFID was supporting.

237. In a meeting with IMF officials, Mr Dinham offered DFID support to help establish
an IMF presence in Irag. He reported that the IMF was “more responsive” to the offer
than the World Bank.

238. In Washington, US State Department officials briefed Mr Dinham on US plans
to re-programme some reconstruction funds to fund security in areas where no
reconstruction could take place, and to increase funding for projects that would have
more immediate impact on the ground. That meant cutting some larger infrastructure
projects, including in the South. The US objective was to encourage other donors, in
particular Japan, Arab states and possibly the European Commission (EC), to take on
longer-term infrastructure projects.

239. In meetings with UN officials, Mr Dinham welcomed progress in implementing UN
Trust Fund projects (although he felt that it could be faster) and the news that two UN
senior development officials were now permanently based in Baghdad.

240. The DFID review of infrastructure requirements in the South referred to by
Mr Dinham at the 11 February meeting of the ISG was submitted to the 24 February
meeting of the AHMGIR.'%°

241. The paper stated that a DFID team had recently assessed how DFID could help
improve infrastructure in southern Irag. As a result, Mr Benn had “approved work to bring
forward quickly” DFID’s £40m I[ISP.

242. The majority of ISP funds would be used to undertake repairs and improvements
to existing infrastructure. To ensure a visible impact on the ground, the programme
would fund larger projects (with a value of more than £500,000). Priority would be given
to projects which would have an impact within six to 12 months and generate significant
employment. 75 percent of the budget was earmarked for power, the rest to improve
water supplies and the fuel distribution network.

243. The paper stated that an “alternative approach” would be to invest available
resources in new power generation. That would take several years to come on line and
would be “a drop in the ocean” of Iraq’s power needs. Substantially greater and quicker
impact could be achieved by well-targeted repairs and rehabilitation, and building

Iraqi capacity.

244. The paper also stated that: “Taken with existing commitments, this new programme
[the IISP] means that there will be little scope for additional DFID initiatives in Iraq that
involve expenditure in 2005/06.”

140 Paper DFID, 21 February 2005, ‘Reconstruction — outcome of DFID mission on infrastructure in the
South; and involvement of other major players’.
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245. The Inquiry concludes that the (brief) consideration of investment in new power
generation may have been prompted by Gen Riley’s 3 February proposal, in response
to Mr Blair’s request for advice on “big-ticket” items, that the UK should aim to build a
200MW gas turbine plant in the South at a cost of up to US$100m.

246. Mr Hoon wrote to Mr Benn on 25 February, highlighting the need to ensure that
the UK did all it could to alleviate power shortages in the South over the summer (before
projects under the IISP would begin to come on stream).’' Plans for a US$10m project
to provide point power generation throughout MND(SE), funded by CERPs, were well
advanced. Mr Benn'’s offer to consider whether DFID could fund the project if CERPs
funding was not released was very welcome.

247. Mr Blair wrote a note to Mr Quarrey on 25 February instructing that Mr Straw be
“put in charge” of the Ad Hoc Ministerial Group on Iraq and asking him to report each
week with actions on “eg reconstruction in the South; Sunni outreach; progress on
security plan”.'2

248. Mr Benn discussed the World Bank’s engagement in Iraq with Mr Wolfensohn on
1 March in the margins of the Palestine Conference.'*?

249. Following a meeting with Mr Benn on 8 March, Mr Michael Anderson, Head of
DFID’s Middle East and North Africa Department, advised officials in the UK Delegation
to the World Bank that Mr Benn had “very little patience” with the Bank:

“The SoS [Mr Benn] is very clear in his view that the slow disbursement by the Bank
under the IRFFI [Trust Fund] is unacceptable ...

“... if the Bank is not able to show a significant increase in its engagement in Iraq by
the end of March, we will be writing to the Bank to seek refund of the funds to the
UK for disbursement through our bilateral programme ...

“His commitment to this line is strong, and we will need to find a way to carry forward
his views despite the legal and reputational risks that may arise.”'#*

141 | etter Hoon to Benn, 25 February 2005, ‘Irag: Reconstruction Priorities in MND(SE)'.

42 Manuscript comment Blair on Minute Quarrey to Prime Minister, 25 February 2005, ‘Iraq Update’.
143 |_etter Dinham to Tulu, 2 March 2005, ‘Iraq’.

44 Email Anderson to Scholar, 8 March 2005, ‘World Bank and Iraq’.
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Mr Benn’s evidence to the
International Development Committee, 10 March 2005

Mr Benn gave evidence to the International Development Committee (IDC) on

10 March 2005, as part of its inquiry into development assistance to Iraq.'® His hearing
followed a visit by three members of the IDC (Mr Quentin Davies, Mr Tony Colman and
Ms Ann Clwyd) to Iraq.

Mr Davies reported that he had been struck by the progress made in reconstruction and
building Iraqi capacity, and by the “very good” co-operation between DFID and the military
on the ground. He challenged Mr Benn on two issues. First, that the separate budgets
held by DFID and the MOD for reconstruction could lead to “some muddle”. Second, that
some of DFID’s work to build the capacity of the Iragi Government was inconsistent with
the 2002 International Development Act.

Mr Benn welcomed the IDC’s observation that DFID and the MOD were working well
together on the ground. He commented:

“DFID has come into Iraq and done things that traditionally we would not do ... Why?
Because that was what was required in the circumstances. We had to dust down
some skills and the Post-Conflict Reconstruction Unit [PCRU] is one of the lessons
from this ...”

The PCRU and its role in Iraq is described in Section 10.3.

Mr Benn strongly rejected the charge that some of DFID’s work was inconsistent with
the 2002 International Development Act, arguing that capacity-building was crucial for
poverty reduction:

“... having states that work ... governments that can do their job, is absolutely
fundamental to improving services and the lives of poor people.”

The imminent dissolution of Parliament brought the inquiry to a close. The IDC did not
publish a report, but did publish the evidence it had gathered as part of its inquiry.

The IDC did not undertake another inquiry into the UK'’s reconstruction effort in Iraq.

250. Gen Riley reported on 16 March that he was “still worried” about providing
sufficient power across MND(SE) over the summer.'#® Temperatures were already
creeping up, and he remembered the “near-disaster” in summer 2003 caused by the
failure of essential services.™’

45 Seventh Report from the International Development Committee, Session 2004-2005, Development
assistance in Iraq: Interim Report, HC244.

46 Report Riley, 16 March 2005, ‘GOC MND(SE) — southern Iraq Update — 16 March 2005'.

47 A reference to the riots in Basra on 10/11 August 2003, which the UK assessed were triggered by fuel
shortages and power blackouts.
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251. While he waited for approval of the point power generation project, he had ordered
MND(SE) to search for additional sources of energy and funding. They had identified
131 generators across the region, of which only 22 were working. Most of the inoperable
generators had never been installed. MND(SE) had completed the installation of 32 of
those generators.

252. Mr Quarrey passed Gen Riley’s update to Mr Blair on 18 March, with the comment:

“The situation is bleak, with generation levels this summer unlikely on current
predictions to be significantly higher than last year — and almost certainly matched
by higher demand.” 48

253. Mr Quarrey advised that funding for the point power generation project (which
would become Operation AMPERE) had now been approved.

254. The funding was provided by DFID."#°

255. Mr Quarrey also advised that officials were working on a new strategy paper on
electricity, but it focused too much on the medium term and not enough on what the
UK could do to improve the situation over the summer. He recommended that the next
AHMGIR should focus on producing a short-term action plan.

256. Mr Blair indicated that he agreed with Mr Quarrey’s proposal, and that he would
raise the issue of power generation with President Bush.'®°

257. Areport on a visit to Irag by senior DFID officials alerted other departments to
pressures on DFID’s budget.

258. Mr Dinham and Mr Anderson visited Iraq from 14 to 19 March.s!

259. Mr Dinham'’s report to Dr Nemat Shafik, DFID Director General Programmes,
characterised the DFID programme as “a balance of capacity building and visible,
quick impact reconstruction activity, particularly in the South”. There was “accelerated
progress” on both capacity building and reconstruction, helped by “excellent
collaboration” with the FCO and MOD.

260. Mr Dinham warned that:

“One side effect of the good progress we are making ... is that our Iraq budget
allocation for 2005/06 is under extreme pressure. If activities to which we are already
committed plus extensions of existing high priority capacity building programmes
proceed at the current pace, we will exceed our existing budget ceiling, without any
new proposals already in the pipeline being taken into account.”

48 Minute Quarrey to Prime Minister, 18 March 2005, ‘Iraq Update’ attaching Report Riley, 16 March 2005,
‘GOC MND(SE) — southern Iraq Update — 16 March 2005’

48 Paper FCO/DFID, 22 March 2005, ‘Iraq: Electricity’.

%0 Manuscript comment Blair on Minute Quarrey to Prime Minister, 18 March 2005, ‘Iraq Update’.

51 Minute Dinham to Shafik, 21 March 2005, ‘Visit to Iraq’.
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261. He continued:

“The need to cut back our budget [for Iraq] in 2004/05 to help meet internal DFID
financial pressures related to the estimating adjustment; plus the MIC ceiling
constraint in 2005/06; plus escalating cost relating to security ... have all contributed
to the pressures.”

262. DFID would seek to deal with those pressures through “a variety of careful financial
management techniques” and an “active search for co-financing” with partners including
the World Bank and the EC. However:

“... the scope for new activity in 2005/06 is nil and we will have to delay until 2006/07
some of the proposals in the pipeline with which we hoped to proceed in 2005/06.”

263. Mr Dinham also reported that Iraqgi governorates did not yet have the capacity to
receive supplementary funding from sources such as the World Bank and the US, as
DFID had hoped.

264. Copies of Mr Dinham'’s report were sent to Mr Benn’s Private Secretary,
Mr Chakrabarti’s Private Secretary, other DFID officials, and officials in No.10, the
Cabinet Office, the FCO, and the MOD.

265. Mr Quarrey marked Mr Dinham’s report to Sir Nigel Sheinwald with the comment:

“This is worrying — we need to have some flexibility in 05/06, including to support
ITG ideas/priorities.” 2

266. Mr Straw made his first report to Mr Blair on the work of the Ad Hoc Ministerial
Group on Irag on 24 March.'®® He attached a number of reports, included a joint
FCO/DFID paper describing the state of the electricity sector, which he described as
a focus for the Group’s work.

267. The FCO/DFID paper stated that the Iragi Government was struggling to sustain
production at more than 4,000MW per day and was unlikely to meet its target of
producing 6,000MW per day by the summer. Demand had soared as the economy had
grown, and was now estimated to be 8,000MW per day (that figure would increase over
the summer). Power cuts would continue.

268. The paper identified four factors behind the failure to increase power production
above May 2003 levels:

® continued sabotage;
® the unreliability and inefficiency of existing power infrastructure;

152 Manuscript comment Quarrey on Minute Dinham to Shafik, 21 March 2005, ‘Visit to Iraq’.
153 |etter Straw to Blair, 24 March 2005, ‘Iraq: Ad Hoc Ministerial Meetings’ attaching Paper FCO/DFID,
22 March 2005, ‘Iraqg: Electricity’.
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®* poor management by the Iragi Government; and
® alack of “strategic focus” by the CPA in the immediate post-conflict period.

269. The paper advised that the Iraqi Government needed to develop a long-term
energy strategy which addressed subsidy and charging issues (power was free). The
World Bank had agreed to advise on strategy and co-ordination “with DFID facilitating”.

270. Given limited UK funds, the UK was focusing on:

®* meeting key short-term needs. The US$10m provided to Gen Riley should
produce 25MW and £10m provided under the SIESP a further 50MW. In the
longer-term, the 1ISP should produce 160MW by April 2006;

® leveraging engagement from others, and;
® providing strategic advice to the Iragi Government.

271. The FCO/IPU concluded that planned work was unlikely to solve Irag’s power
generation problem in time for the summer. The UK should encourage the Iraqi
Government to plan now for next summer and the longer term, through the development
of a coherent strategy for the energy sector.

272. In his covering letter to Mr Blair, Mr Straw stated that 55 percent of DFID’s budget
for Iraq for 2005/06 would be spent in the power sector.’*

273. Mr Blair indicated that he had seen the letter, but did not comment on it."%°

274. MND(SE) and the DFID Basra Office reported on 30 March that they had reached
agreement on how to use the US$10m provided by DFID for power generation in the
South.™® MND(SE) had initially favoured diesel generators, DFID gas turbines. A “hybrid
proposal” had emerged, involving the purchase of diesel generators for fewer sites than
originally proposed and the refurbishment of existing gas turbines. MND(SE) estimated
that the project — Operation AMPERE — would produce an additional 16.5MW by 1 July.
It would only be a temporary solution. DFID’s [ISP would help to maintain existing
capacity, but substantive improvement would only come through long-term restructuring,
institutional reform and major capital investment. That agenda would be pursued with
the ITG.

275. The effect of Op AMPERE is considered later in this Section.

154 | etter Straw to Blair, 24 March 2005, ‘Irag: Ad Hoc Ministerial Meetings’.

% Manuscript comment Blair on Note Quarrey to Prime Minister, 30 March 2005, ‘Iraq’.

%6 Telegram 47 Basra to FCO London, 30 March 2005, ‘Iraq: Meeting Peak Power Demands in the South
this Summer’.
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276. Gen Riley reported on 5 April that a fire had completely shut down the main power
station in Nasiriyah, which supplied 50 percent of the electricity to the MND(SE) area.’
He commented:

“This simply serves to point up the fragility of the national supply and to illustrate
that DFID and MND(SE) alone are never going to solve the electricity problem
in southern Iraq. While | still believe that DFID’s US$10m will make a small
difference this summer the symbolic nature of the money is as important as the
power it will produce.”

277. Gen Riley concluded that “more drastic action” was needed to prevent an even
bigger problem in summer 2006.

DFID reviews its Interim Country Assistance Plan

278. DFID had published its Interim Country Assistance Plan for Iraq (I-CAP) in
February 2004, at a time when the UK was a joint Occupying Power in Iraq and security
was improving.'s®

279. The I-CAP re-stated DFID guidance that progress against a CAP should be
assessed annually, and that a CAP should be subject to a “major review” every three or
four years. The |-CAP stated that, given the rapidly changing situation in Iraq, it would
need a “substantial” review after one year.

280. Mr Anderson circulated a note on the programme management issues identified
during his 14 to 19 March visit to Iraq to DFID colleagues only on 4 April 2005."%°

281. Mr Anderson highlighted the next 12 months as a critical period for DFID’s Iraq
programme and a “key window for donor impact”. US and UK development spending
was set to reduce after 2006 and the UK military presence, upon which donor activities
in the South relied, might draw down.

282. Mr Anderson also highlighted two DFID policy papers with implications for DFID’s
programme in Iraq. The first, on fragile states, emphasised the importance of realistic
expectations of host government capacity and of prioritising and sequencing activities
to avoid overwhelming it. The second, on security and development, highlighted the
importance of personal safety and security for the poor, and emphasised that activities
to promote effective security systems were integral to development work. The DFID Iraq
team would meet to consider the implications of the papers in the next few months.

283. Mr Anderson detailed the work required to bring DFID’s programme for 2005/06
within the new budget. Current commitments exceeded the new budget “by several tens
of millions of pounds”.

57 Report Riley, 5 April 2005, ‘GOC MND(SE) southern Iraq Update — 5 April 2005'.
%8 Department for International Development, Iraq: Interim Country Assistance Plan, February 2004.
1% Minute Anderson to DFID [junior official], 4 April 2005, ‘Irag Programme Management Issues’.
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284. Areview of DFID’s I-CAP was under way. It was unlikely to result in major changes,
but existing activities would need to be “more focused” on the four UK objectives set out
in the UK paper ‘Iraq: Strategy for 2005’, which had been agreed on 9 February.

285. On 6 April, the JIC assessed the state of the insurgency in Iraq following the
January election.' |t judged that a significant Sunni insurgency would continue through
2005, but that there now appeared to be greater opportunities for reducing it. The ITG’s
early actions would be critical in changing Sunni perceptions and eroding support for
the insurgency. Sunni expectations included the direction of reconstruction money

to Sunni areas.

286. Mr Blair met President Bush on 8 April. Mr Blair’s briefing for the meeting
suggested that he might raise four operational points with President Bush, including
power supply.'' It would be very damaging for the ITG if there was no improvement in
electricity supply that summer. The UK was looking to boost supply in the short term in
the South through a DFID/MOD programme; the US needed to do more quick-impact
work across Iraq.

287. The record of the meeting did not include any reference to a discussion on
improving power supply, or reconstruction more broadly.'®?

288. Lt Gen Kiszely completed his tour as the Senior British Military Representative,
Irag and sent his “hauldown” report to Gen Walker on 16 April."®3 Lt Gen Kiszely
assessed that progress in MND(SE) had been good, with all four provinces likely to
be under Provincial Iraqi Security Control by March 2006, offering “the potential for
considerable reductions in UK force levels”.

289. The I-CAP review process was discussed in a meeting of DFID officials chaired by
Mr Anderson on 21 April 2005.'% The meeting concluded that:

“The starting point is that the [-CAP remains valid, but priorities within that
have moved on in the light of the substantially changed situation in Iraq since
last February [when the I-CAP was agreed], the 2005 Strategy and our budget
constraints.”

60 JIC Assessment, 6 April 2005, ‘Iraq: the State of the Insurgency’.

61 Minute Phillipson to Prime Minister, 7 April 2005, ‘Bilateral with President Bush: 0800-0845, 8 April’.

162 |_etter Sheinwald to Adams, 8 April 2005, ‘Prime Minister’s Meeting with President Bush, Rome, 8 April’.
83 Minute Kiszely to CDS, 16 April 2005, ‘SBMR-I's Hauldown Report’.

84 Minute DFID [junior official] to Anderson, 22 April 2005, ‘Iraq: ICAP Review and 2005/06 Programming’.
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The Iraqi Transitional Government

The Iragi Transitional Government (ITG), led by Prime Minister Dr Ibrahim al-Ja’afari,
formally took power in early May.'® The ITG was mandated to govern Iraq until a
government could be elected according to a new constitution in December 2005.

In his account of the Occupation of Irag and the transition to democracy, Dr Ali A Allawi,
ITG Minister of Finance and former IIG Minister of Defence, described Iraqi people’s
expectations of the ITG:

“The public expected that the Transitional Government would immediately start to
remedy the services and security situations, and the message [delivered by Prime
Minister al-Ja’afari in the National Assembly] was that conditions would rapidly
improve. A realistic and cold-blooded assessment ... would have led to a different
conclusion, one that might have been difficult for politicians to admit to, but which
was nevertheless necessary to make if the expectations of the public were not to be
raised too high.” 166

Dr Allawi wrote that problems with the power supply added to the feeling of “a country
under siege”.'®” Those problems “could not have possibly been resolved in the time-frame
of the Transitional Government” and the fact that the entire sector did not collapse “was
actually a sign of success”.

290. DFID officials in London, Baghdad and Basra held a video conference on 17 May
to discuss the I-CAP review.'®® The presentation made to the video conference by a
DFID official set out a number of “conclusions”:

* A‘de-facto” review had already been completed, in the form of the exchange
between Mr Blair and Mr Benn in October 2004, Mr Chakrabarti’s visit to Iraq in
December 2004, the 2005 UK Strategy, the “smaller than expected” budget for
Iraq, and increased life support costs.

®* The process could have been much better. There should be a better process for
next year’s review.

291. The official subsequently reported to Mr Anderson that the video conference had
agreed that the [-CAP review had “essentially been completed”. Work was now in hand
to produce a text for publication, after agreement by Mr Benn. The process had been
driven by events and had not been ideal. The official set out in detail the better review
process that should be undertaken the following year.

292. Mr Blair and President Bush spoke by video conference on 19 May. Mr Blair’s brief
for the conversation advised that the electricity situation in Iraq was “parlous” (six hours

'8 Daily Telegraph, 3 May 2005, Iraq’s new government sworn in.

86 Allawi AA. The Occupation of Iraq: winning the war, losing the peace. Yale University Press, 2007.
67 Allawi AA. The Occupation of Iraq: winning the war, losing the peace. Yale University Press, 2007.
88 Minute DFID [junior official] to Anderson, 19 May 2005, ‘ICAP Review’
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a day or less). It would be very damaging for the ITG if electricity supply that summer
was worse than the last.'®®

293. The record of the video conference did not include any reference to a discussion
on improving power supply, or reconstruction more broadly.'®

294. Mr Blair spoke to Prime Minister Ja’afari for the first time on 26 May and said that
“we stood ready to help in any way we could”, in particular on developing the ISF.""

295. The newly formed Sub-Committee of the Ministerial Committee on Defence and
Overseas Policy on Iraq (DOP (1)) met for the first time on 26 May, chaired by Mr Blair.""2
Mr Benn attended the meeting.

296. Mr Benn'’s briefing for the meeting advised that, following his decision in December
2004 on priorities for 2005, DFID’s programme was now “substantially re-orientated
towards bilateral infrastructure support in the South”.'”?

297. It also advised that in response to a larger-than-expected charge from the FCO for
life support costs and a “smaller-than-expected” budget allocation for Iraq for 2005/06:

“... we have trimmed back some work, notably consultancy, and are planning
25 percent slippage on the £40m infrastructure work [DFID’s Iraq Infrastructure
Services Programme — IISP]. We are also seeking co-financing, with US$20m
agreed in principle with the World Bank ...”

298. Even after that trimming, planned expenditure for 2005/06 exceeded the budget;
DFID would need to monitor spending very closely. It was, however, reasonable to
“over-programme” given the (unspecified) “uncertainties” and the potential military
drawdown in the second half of 2005/06, which might significantly affect what DFID
could do in the South.

299. The Inquiry has seen no indications that other departments were informed of or
consulted on the decision to slip expenditure on